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MEDIA RELEASE:  Friday, November 23, 2012, 4:30 p.m. 
 

REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WATERLOO 
ADMINISTRATION AND FINANCE 

AGENDA 
 

Tuesday, November 27, 2012 
10:30 a.m. 

(Time is approximate; meeting follows Closed Session) 
Regional Council Chamber 

150 Frederick Street, Kitchener, Ontario 
 
 
1. MOTION TO RECONVENE INTO OPEN SESSION   

 
2. 

 
DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST UNDER THE MUNICIPAL 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST ACT 

 

 
3. 

 
DELEGATIONS 
 

 

4. 
 
a) 

REPORTS – Chief Administrative Officer 
 
CA-12-011, Progress on the 2011-2014 Strategic Plan 

 

 
 
 
b) 
 
c) 
 

 
REPORTS - Finance 
 
F-12-102, Request for Funding – Waterloo Air Show 
 
F-12-103, Status of the Waterloo Region Municipalities Insurance Pool 

 

 
 
d) 

REPORTS – Corporate Resources 
 
CR-CLK-12-019, Region of Waterloo Multi-Year Accessibility Plan 
 (Accessibility Plan circulated to Councillors and Senior Staff only) 
 

 

5. 
 
a) 

REPORT FROM THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the Audit Committee – November 6, 2012 

 

 
6. 

 
INFORMATION/CORRESPONDENCE 
 

 

7. 
 
a) 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Council Enquires and Requests for Information Tracking List 

 

 
8. 

 
NEXT MEETING – December 11, 2012 

 

 
9. 

 
ADJOURN 
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io REGION OF WATERLOO  
 
 OFFICE OF THE CHIEF ADMINISTRATOR 

  Strategic Planning & Strategic Initiatives 
 

 
TO: Chair Tom Galloway and Members of the Administration & Finance Committee 
 
DATE:   November 27, 2012    FILE CODE:  A26-50 
 
SUBJECT: PROGRESS ON THE 2011-2014 STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
For information 
 
SUMMARY:  Nil 
 
 
REPORT: 
 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
On August 16th 2011, Regional Council adopted the Strategic Plan 2011-2014 (CA-11-006).  
The priorities and directions included in the Strategic Plan were identified based on significant 
public and staff consultation and considerable Council discussion in 2010/2011.   Based on the 
input, a framework for the strategic plan was identified to ensure effective and efficient 
management of the priorities. The main components of this framework include the Region of 
Waterloo’s Vision, Mission, Values; and the Focus Areas, Strategic Objectives and Actions.   
 
In order to achieve the vision of an inclusive, thriving and sustainable community, five focus 
areas were developed for the 2011–2014 term of Council, namely:  
 

Focus Area 1:  Environmental Sustainability:  Protect and enhance the environment. 
 

Focus Area 2:  Growth Management and Prosperity:  
Manage growth to foster thriving and productive urban and rural communities. 

 
Focus Area 3:  Sustainable Transportation:   
Develop greater, more sustainable and safe transportation choices. 

 
Focus Area 4:  Healthy and Inclusive Communities:   
Foster healthy, safe, inclusive and caring communities.  

   
  Focus Area 5:  Service Excellence:  
  Deliver excellent and responsive services that inspire public trust. 
 
For each focus area, strategic objectives were identified to add clarity to the focus areas, 
describe the overall intent and direction of the focus areas, and help staff align their work to the 
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focus areas.  The strategic objectives define “what” the Region is trying to accomplish in that 
area of focus. In order to move these strategic objectives forward, specific actions were also 
developed, which identify “how” the Region will achieve each of the strategic objectives.   The 
purpose of this report is to provide some highlights of the progress made on the actions that are 
included in the 2011 – 2014 Strategic Plan.   
 
Successes from the strategic plan are complemented by many other initiatives underway across 
the organization that are not included in this progress report, but it is important to note that they 
also help move the organization closer to achieving its vision for the future.   
 
 
2.0 PROGRESS ON THE FIVE STRATEGIC FOCUS AREAS 
 
The Region has made significant progress on the objectives and actions set out in the Strategic 
Plan.  This progress has been made in challenging times as the lingering effects of the 
recession are reducing the Region’s revenue sources and driving up need for many Regional 
services.  A complete overview of the status of each of the Strategic Plan action items is 
provided in Appendix A.  A few significant accomplishments are highlighted below under each 
Focus Area. 
 
2.1 Focus Area:  Environmental Sustainability: 
Protect and enhance the environment 
 
An integrated Community Environmental Fund was launched November 2011 and 
approximately $270,000 was awarded to 28 projects in 2012.  The approved projects involve a 
diverse array of stakeholders including local schools, area municipalities and non-profit groups.  
The groups will address issues such as the protection and rehabilitation of natural areas, 
renewable energy, waste reduction and the promotion of local organic food production.   
 
The Region has also launched a plan and has taken action to reduce Green House Gas (GHG) 
emissions from Regional operations.  In 2011 over 7700 tonnes of GHG emissions reductions 
were accounted for via initiatives such as methane reduction at the landfill; energy/fuel 
efficiency in Regional buildings and vehicle fleet as well as reductions in staff business travel.  
Also with the completion of six solar photovoltaic rooftop installations, 255,000 MWh of clean 
renewable energy will be produced annually. These actions are a positive step towards reaching 
the Region’s 10 year GHG reduction target of approximately 40,000 tonnes by the year 2019.  
 
Also with the completion of six solar photovoltaic rooftop installations, 255,000 MWh of clean 
renewable energy will be produced annually. These actions are a positive step towards reaching 
the Region’s 10 year GHG reduction target of approximately 40,000 tonnes by the year 2019.  
 
Waterloo Region residents continue to successfully divert waste from our landfill – a 52% 
reduction since 1989.  In order to continue to reduce the amount of waste going to the landfill, 
the Region is working on a new Waste Management Master Plan. This plan will guide the 
development of Waste Management programs and services for the next 20 years.  Through the 
planning process the Region will identify opportunities to expand the existing diversion 
programs and improve existing services, keep more garbage out of our landfill, and identify what 
could be done with our leftover garbage once the landfill is full.  Currently the Region is seeking 
public input to the Master Plan. 
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The Region is making tremendous investments in its wastewater plants and is working on 
actions to protect the quality and quantity of our drinking water sources.  Draft source water 
protection policies were approved in August 2012, and the Source Protection Plan is expected 
to be completed by the end of 2012.  During the period of 1999 – 2011, there was a 9% 
decrease in water consumption even though the population increased 26% during this time.  
 
The Region has been working in partnership with area municipalities, local school boards, and 
community organizations to develop policies and programs to provide shade (e.g., tree canopy) 
in our communities.   From the outset of the shade policy initiative, it was recognized that no 
single agency could bring about all necessary changes to the tree canopy. The ongoing 
collaboration reflects the fact that shade policy is a convergence of several objectives in the 
strategic plan: cancer prevention, urban air quality, and the design of streets and public places.  
 
In a similar partnership, the Climate Collaborative has successfully leveraged significant 
financial resources and expertise to develop a community-wide climate action plan.  The 
development of this plan aims to achieve other related socio-economic and environmental goals 
such as promotion of sustainable and active transportation, energy efficient buildings and 
advancement of the local green economy. Ongoing stakeholder engagement and partnership 
building will be critical to the successful development and implementation of this action plan 
which is scheduled to be presented at City and Regional Councils in 2013. 
 
 
2.2 Focus Area:  Growth Management and Prosperity:  
Manage growth to foster thriving and productive urban and rural communities. 
 
In October 2006, Regional Council approved the framework for a Regional Brownfields 
Financial Incentive Pilot Program (now referred to as the Brownfields Financial Incentive 
Program or BFIP) to promote the redevelopment of previously contaminated sites.  There has 
been significant interest in the program by the private sector and the program is proving to be 
successful in helping to achieve these goals. Overall, 18 applications have been approved and 
approximately $1.7 million in assistance has been provided to date through the BFIP program’s 
three components. This has contributed to the potential remediation and redevelopment of 11 
sites within the Cities of Cambridge, Kitchener and Waterloo. In addition, approximately 285 
new residential units and 441,000 sq. feet of non-residential space have been redeveloped (with 
building permits valued at approximately $50.5 million).  
 
The Region and Area Municipalities have successfully collaborated on three major joint Tax 
Increment Grant (TIG) applications for the projects known as The Tannery District (Kitchener), 
Waterscape on the Grand River (Cambridge) and 750 Lawrence St. (Cambridge).  The Tannery 
District (winner of the 2011 CUI Brownie award for best project) is a highly successful adaptive 
reuse project that transformed a contaminated manufacturing facility into a mixed used complex 
now employing approximately 1000 people. Waterscape on the Grand River (winner of a 2010 
CUI Brownie Award) resulted in the redevelopment of an extremely challenging underutilized 
and environmentally impacted site into 113 new residential units and the potential for additional 
residential and hotel/convention space in the future. Lastly, the TIG for 750 Lawrence Street 
allowed for the remediation of a long-term brownfield site and its renewal as a 103 townhouse 
infill development. 
 
In order to advance new East Side employment lands toward development readiness, a Master 
Environmental Servicing Plan (MESP) and Community Plan are being developed. The MESP is 
being co-managed by the Region, the City of Cambridge and the Grand River Conservation 
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Authority (GRCA).  The primary focus of the MESP is on the lands designated in the new 
Regional Official Plan as Prime Industrial Strategic Reserve (PISR). This work will advance the 
lands through the Environmental Assessment (EA) process towards development readiness for 
new employment opportunities.  It is anticipated the MESP will be finalized by the end of 2012 
and will ultimately include transportation, environmental, servicing, sub-watershed and 
community planning information.   
 
In order to strengthen the coordination and implementation of economic development activities 
in Waterloo Region, area municipalities and the Region have engaged a consultant to review 
the roles and responsibilities of various organizations involved in economic development.  This 
review will help to identify any significant overlaps and gaps and recommend alternate 
approaches to strengthen the overall approach to economic development in Waterloo Region.  
The consultant's report is expected in late 2012. 
 
The Region continues to work with the Creative Enterprise Initiative (CEI), area municipalities 
and others to strengthen the arts and culture sector.  In 2012, the region invested more than $1 
million in the arts and culture sector, including direct support to four arts organizations, as well 
as the Arts Fund and the CEI.  The support for CEI has leveraged additional private sector 
investment, and has helped fund the development of a number of programs for artists and arts 
organizations, including a benefits program, provision of low-rent space, and grant-writing and 
marketing workshops. 
 
Waterloo Region Museum has implemented marketing strategies for specific growth markets 
including: 

 Curriculum-based education programs;  
 Casual visitation from within Waterloo Region;  
 Ontario travel and tourism within a four hour drive of Waterloo Region;  
 Inbound travel via the group tour market.   

 
It is projected that Waterloo Region Museum will see 72,000 visitors in 2012, an 80% increase 
over typical usage prior to completion of the new museum building and galleries. 
 
2.3 Focus Area:  Sustainable Transportation: 
Develop greater, more sustainable and safe transportation choices. 
 
The Region continues to plan for population and employment growth over the next two decades. 
Recognizing this challenge, Council approved rapid transit as the preferred transportation mode 
to move people and shape urban form, in June 2011.  Earlier this year, Council also approved 
the Design-Build-Finance-Operate-Maintain (DBFOM) procurement and delivery model for 
Stage 1 of the rapid transit implementation plan. More recently, the Region received “Approval 
in Principle” letters from both the Federal and Provincial Governments that authorize the Region 
to accrue eligible costs for future cost sharing with the two senior funding partners. The Region 
also received a notice to proceed, as part of the Transit Project Assessment, from the 
Province’s Ministry of the Environment on May 22, 2012.  
 
With these critical approvals in place, the Region is now advancing the system design and 
preparing output specifications for the procurement process, leading to final design and 
construction. This groundwork will allow for a strong competition to build a sustainable system 
efficiently and economically. The first step of the procurement process was to release a Request 
for Qualifications on October 5th, 2012. This will be followed by a short listing of successful 
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applicants and the release of a Request for Proposals (RFP) around March 2013. Following the 
completion of the RFP process, project construction is planned to commence in 2014 with 
system operations beginning in 2017.  
 
Another significant milestone was the approval by Regional Council, in June 2012, that 
authorized staff to negotiate with Metrolinx to use their existing contract with Bombardier for the 
delivery of light rail vehicles. Staff is currently negotiating with Metrolinx to purchase vehicles 
along with the opportunity to test pilot vehicles in the Region. Subject to successful discussions 
and subsequent Council approval, the pilot testing could begin in 2015. 
 
To leverage the investment in Rapid Transit, the Region is creating a Community Building 
Strategy that identifies key directions for building communities and moving people within, to, and 
from this Corridor. This framework will identify new and innovative ways to realize the benefits 
that rapid transit will bring to our community.  
 
A comprehensive redesign and expansion of the bus network to support the Light Rail Transit 
System began during the development of the Regional Transportation Master Plan (RTMP). The 
redesign of the transit network is based on a series of express corridors that connect with rapid 
transit. The Grand River Transit 2011–14 Business Plan was approved February 8, 2012.  
Through this planning process requirements necessary to implement key express corridors and 
local service changes to integrate the bus network were determined with the approved LRT and 
aBRT service. The first express route resulting from this process, serving the Fischer-Hallman 
corridor, was implemented in September 2011; the next is proposed to serve the University 
Avenue corridor beginning in September 2013. 
 
Transit ridership has been increasing at triple the rate of population growth. Annual transit 
ridership has increased from 9.5 million rides in 2000 to 19.7 million in 2011 (107% increase).   
To accommodate growth there has been significant expansion to transit services in 2011/2012 
including: 

 Extended Sunday hours on most routes in Cambridge;  
 Regular-sized buses and all-day weekday service on Route 75 Saginaw;  
 Enhanced service coverage to the L.G. Lovell Industrial Park;  
 New peak-period service for Route 76 Doon South;  
 Extended weekend service on the 200 iXpress and Route13 in Laurelwood.  

 
Other improvements to transit include work to improve access to and awareness for GRT and 
Mobility Plus.  By 2013, all GRT buses will be accessible to people with mobility challenges.  
 
In consultation with local municipalities Walk Cycle Waterloo Region, the Region’s Active 
Transportation Master Plan is almost complete. Walk Cycle Waterloo Region guides the 
implementation of cycling and walking in the Region for the next 20 years to achieve modal 
share targets set out in the Regional Transportation Master Plan (RTMP).  The RTMP targets 
more than double the walking and cycling modes on Regional roads over the next 20 years.   
 
TravelWise was developed by staff at the Region of Waterloo to encourage employees to walk, 
cycle or take transit to work to reduce parking demands. The TravelWise Transportation 
Management Association (TMA) was officially launched in partnership with the three cities, local 
businesses and post secondary institutions in January 2012. The TMA began with 15 member 
organizations in January and has grown to 17 as of July 2012.  Over 660 registered employees 
of these organizations are actively participating in TMA services such as the GRT corporate 
discount transit passes.  
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The Region is continually reviewing the Regional road network to identify specific areas where 
congestion and operational issues are occurring.  These locations are prioritized on an annual 
basis and solutions are then developed and implemented.  One of the activities to improve road 
safety is a Roundabout Essentials community education campaign which includes a new 
roundabout training video.  This video was launched in 2012 and teaches the public the 
essential skills in order to drive a roundabout properly, safely and easily.   
  
Work is continuing on the many studies and initiatives to prepare the King/Victoria Transit Hub 
site ready for redevelopment over the next few years. The Hub will be a central transportation 
node on the Regional Rapid Transit (RT) line and serve as an iconic site with high quality, high 
density, mixed-use land development. Environmental work is underway, as are a number of 
studies to include market scoping, business case, environmental assessments for both the 
transit infrastructure and the closure of Waterloo Street, planning justification, heritage impact 
assessment, noise and vibration, and urban design.  The Region has submitted a formal 
application to the City of Kitchener to change its Official Plan and Zoning Bylaw to allow for the 
full range of land uses we may want to consider at the site.  
 
The Region continues to advocate for improved rail service to Kitchener and Cambridge.  
Progress was made on December 19, 2011 as GO Rail service was initiated in Kitchener. On 
November 21, 2012, Regional Council approved a $1.39 million contribution to GO Transit, 
payable in five equal installments from 2013 to 2017, as the Region’s share of GO Transit 
capital investments in relation to service extension to Waterloo Region. This contribution is in 
response to a request by the Province of Ontario of the benefiting municipalities towards the 
capital cost of the recently implemented GO train service to Waterloo Region. The total capital 
cost for this project was approximately $18 million and the Waterloo Region contribution is 
$1.39 million. The completion of the King/Victoria Transit Hub will further integrate GRT, GO 
Transit, VIA and other inter-regional modes of transportation. However, VIA Rail recently 
announced reductions in service to Kitchener and details are forthcoming.   Staff will continue to 
work with GO Transit and VIA Rail to pursue opportunities to increase inter-regional bus and rail 
passenger service to Waterloo Region. 
 
The 2009 Cambridge to GTA Rail Passenger Feasibility Study identified the existing train station 
located on Malcolm Street near Water Street as a possible central Cambridge GO Transit rail 
station. This site and others will be considered for a multi-modal transportation hub as part of 
the Phase two LRT Transit Project Assessment for the Fairview Mall to Ainslie Street section 
scheduled for 2014.  
 
Marketing strategies to increase use of existing services provided by the Region of Waterloo 
International Airport have been successful as Statistics Canada has ranked the Airport as the 
10th busiest in Canada according to their Aircraft Movement Statistics report for July 2012.  In 
2012 the airport is expecting passenger traffic will increase by nearly 25 per cent and aircraft 
movements by 15 per cent.  American Airlines also started their new non-stop service to 
Chicago on June 14, 2012.  American Airlines provides connections through O’Hare to over 250 
cities in 40 countries worldwide.   
 
2.4 Focus Area:  Healthy and Inclusive Communities: 
Foster healthy, safe, inclusive and caring communities.  
 
A Regional Poverty Reduction Steering committee (RPRSC) has been providing leadership, 
direction and input into the development of the Comprehensive Approach to poverty reduction.  
Input has been sought from a number of groups in order to shape the corporate-wide approach.  
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By September 2012, over 300 people have provided their input towards the development of the 
Region’s Comprehensive Approach to poverty reduction. The final report is to be considered by 
Council in December 2012.    
 
The Region continues to participate in local initiatives to reduce poverty including STEP Home 
Waterloo Region Shares, Rural Realities Network Community Outreach Program and the 
Counselling Collaborative.  Through the provision of funding for Opportunities Waterloo Region, 
there was local implementation of the Canada Learning Bond and free income tax clinics for 
those living on a low income.  Regional Finance staff volunteered their time to complete tax 
returns for persons with low income as part of the Community Volunteer Income Tax Program 
sponsored by the Canada Revenue Agency. Along with other volunteers, 1,413 tax returns were 
filed resulting in $1,597,812 being paid to low income citizens.  
 
The Region has established and coordinated a Healthy Communities Partnership to take action 
regarding three community identified priorities:  healthy eating, physical activity, and mental 
health promotion.  The Waterloo Region Healthy Communities Partnership is part of a 
provincially mandated health promotion strategy that asks local community members to identify 
and advocate for local policy actions to improve health outcomes and reduce levels of chronic 
disease. In January 2012, the partnership secured funds from the Ministry of Health and Long-
Term Care (MOHLTC) to complete three projects to advance the policy goals of its partner 
networks. 
 
The Waterloo Region Crime Prevention Council received nearly $3.8 million over 45 months 
from the National Crime Prevention Strategy for a collaborative gang prevention project 
involving several community partners.  The project is called “inREACH” and is a youth gang 
prevention program for Waterloo Region. The program is designed to work with youth between 
the ages of 13-24 who are involved in gang activity or at-risk of being involved in gang activity.  
To date, inREACH has made significant strides and all three of phases of the project have been 
successfully implemented. Council will encourage the federal government to continue to 
financially support the inReach program of the Waterloo Region Crime Prevention Council. 
 
Emergency Medical Services (EMS) is currently in the fifth year of a 25 year plan with staffing 
increases dependent on Council approval each budget cycle.  The plan is reviewed regularly 
through the System Performance reports to the Community Services Committee and a new 
Response Time Performance Plan was approved by Council in October 2012.  In 2012, the 
Region-wide emergency response time is 12 minutes 09 seconds or less 90% of the time, a 
reduction of 15 seconds since 2011.   
 
EMS continues ongoing advocacy with hospital senior administrators, the Ministry of Health and 
Long Term Care, Local Health Integration Network (LHIN) and Community Care Access Centre 
(CCAC) to support health care system changes to reduce EMS offload delays in area 
hospitals. Year to date, Offload Delays have stabilized at 2011 levels. 
 
The All Roads Lead to Home: The Homelessness to Housing Stability Strategy of Waterloo 
Region update process began in early 2011.  The updated strategy, once completed, will 
consist of two components; A Policy Framework which will provide a common point of reference 
and guidelines for thinking about how to end homelessness and an Action Framework which 
identifies what needs to change, how change should be supported and what measures should 
be used for evaluating the impact of change over time.  The Policy Framework was completed 
in January 2012 and was endorsed by 29 organizations and groups including Regional Council.   
The Strategy Action Framework will go forward to Regional Council in fall 2012.    
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On October 29, 2008, Regional Council endorsed a new Affordable Housing Strategy (AHS) to 
help create at least 500 new units of sustainable affordable housing between 2008 and the end 
of 2013. By the end of 2011, the Region had developed 382 units (75 per cent) towards the 500-
unit goal, including 284 affordable rental and supportive housing units and 98 affordable 
homeownerships.  On March 8, 2012, Regional Council approved five new priority projects 
representing up to 70 new affordable rental and supportive housing units throughout the region. 
This would bring the AHS total to 452 new units created, representing 90 per cent of the 500-
unit goal.   
 
Children’s Services has worked with local school boards to support the transition to full-day 
junior kindergarten and senior kindergarten and to develop strategies that mitigate some of the 
impact on licensed early learning and child care operators. This initiative greatly expands the 
availability of before and after school programs for four to seven year olds. In addition, Waterloo 
Region District School Board will be offering before and after school programs for 8-12 year olds 
called Youth Development Programs. This program is unique in the province and has been 
developed in consultation with Children’s Services, Ministry of Education and Conestoga 
College’s Recreation Worker Program. 
 
The Region of Waterloo Seniors’ Strategy is in the early stages of development. The strategy is 
being developed by the Region of Waterloo Seniors Advisory Committee.  It is anticipated that 
the completed strategy will be presented to Regional Council for their consideration in spring 
2014.  The Seniors Advisory Committee hosted a forum on November 5, 2012 to inform the 
development of the strategy.   
 
The Immigration Partnership began its implementation phase in April 2011 and since then, the 
Immigration Partnership has established a number of action groups and ad hoc task groups to 
address issues related to settling, working, and belonging in Waterloo Region.  Staff from 
various departments within the Region participate actively on each action group and on many of 
the task groups within the Immigration Partnership.  Additionally, the Immigration Partnership 
participates on Regional committees and initiatives in order to ensure the needs of newcomers 
are considered in planning.  One of the successes in the partnership’s first year has been the 
creation of an integrated on line portal for newcomers to Canada.  This portal amalgamates the 
former Waterloo Region Immigrant Employment Network, the Newcomer Portal and the 
Immigration Partnership.   
 
2.5 Focus Area:  Service Excellence:  
Deliver excellent and responsive services that inspire public trust. 
 
A diversity and Inclusion strategy has been developed and approved in June 2012 in order to 
identify actions that will make the Region’s programs, services and workforce more accessible 
and responsive to our diverse community.   Through this project the Region is also working to 
attract and retain a skilled, talented and diverse workforce in order to better understand the 
needs of our community.    
 
In order to improve access to regional programs and services, the Region is in the process of 
developing and implementing the Service First Call Centre (SFCC) which will enable citizens to 
reach regional programs and services with a single phone number.  At this stage in the project 
there has been significant progress on the development of the SFCC and it is on time and on 
budget.  
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In order to improve satisfaction with Regional programs and services the Region is in the 
process of developing service standards and performance targets to initiate improvement plans 
in selected departments. Along with these improvement plans a comprehensive 
citizen/customer service training program for staff is also being developed to offer role-specific 
training and support necessary to provide excellent service to the community. 
  
The Region continues to implement program reviews in order to improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of our programs.  Since 2011, program reviews have been completed in Facilities 
Management & Fleet Services, the Region of Waterloo International Airport and the Rent 
Supplement Program.  The Cultural Sites program review began in the summer 2012.  Each of 
the program reviews has identified a range of program improvements and efficiencies, including 
cost savings, changes to policies and procedures, organizational changes, and improved 
effectiveness and accountability. 
 
In order to retain, recruit and develop skilled, motivated and citizen-centered employees, a 
number of actions have occurred.  Several activities have been completed to support the 
effective recruitment of Regional employees during the past year.  The Region piloted 
recruitment through Facebook in the fall of 2011 for Engineering positions. A process for 
identifying hard-to fill positions across the organization was implemented. As a result, Human 
Resources has developed and implemented strategies for recruiting identified hard-to-fill 
positions (e.g. The creation of a Junior Engineer Position).  
 
In order to gather input from current staff, plans to implement a second organization wide 
employee survey are underway.  The results of the survey will help identify what is important to 
staff and what could be improved in the workplace.  The survey is part of the ongoing effort to 
improve employee engagement and employee satisfaction.  Ultimately, this will help to provide 
better service to the public.  The survey was launched in November 2012.  
 
Webcasting of Regional Council and Standing Committee meetings began in December 2011.  
An update report will be provided to Council this January with statistics pertaining to viewership.  
Progress has been made to increase awareness of Council activities and opportunities for 
citizens to interact with members of Regional Council in a number of ways, including:   

 In 2011, the Region hosted two all-Council meetings with area Councillors.  
 In May 2012, local media were invited to participate in a Council tour of Regional 

facilities. 
 Policies were implemented in 2011 that will provide more flexibility to Members of 

Council to attend a greater number of community events.   
 Articles by Members of Council are being published in community newspapers on a 

regular basis.  
 Councillors’ external websites and social media pages (where applicable) have been 

linked to their Regional web pages. 
 

In order to increase awareness of Regional programs and services, a Corporate 
Communications Master Plan has been developed which identifies key actions to improve 
communications with the public. One activity outlined in this plan was implemented in July 2012.  
This action involved the creation of a series of commercials highlighting various Regional 
services which began airing on local TV stations in July 2012. 
 
The Region continues to explore partnership opportunities with area municipalities on an 
ongoing basis. Specific examples in 2011 and 2012 include the following: The Region and City 
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of Kitchener have developed a call centre partnership. The partnership involves the Region co-
locating the new Service First Call Centre with the City's existing call centre. The City of 
Kitchener is also exploring the option of using the new citizen relationship management (CRM) 
software recently acquired by the Region. 
 
 
3.0  COUNCIL PRIORITIES FOR 2013 – 2014 
 
Regional Council held a mid term strategic planning review meeting on October 25, 2012.  The 
focus of this meeting was to review the progress made as well as identify any enhancements or 
revisions to the 2011-2014 Strategic Plan.  Based on the discussion, Council identified several 
priorities which require sustained attention by Council and staff for the remaining two years of 
this Council term. 
 
Economic Development and Job Creation 
Given the current economic climate Council identified the need for a renewed focus on 
strengthening the coordination and implementation of economic development in Waterloo 
Region.  It was deemed critical that political, community and business leaders work together to 
strengthen the labour force and our economy while balancing the needs of local municipalities, 
industries, business sector and the environment.  This is consistent with Strategic Plan 
Objective 2.3, Support a diverse, innovative and globally competitive economy. 
 
One of the activities of the Strategic Plan is to clarify the roles and responsibilities of the Region, 
area municipalities and other key stakeholders with regards to economic development.  In order 
to do this, a study was commissioned and the report will be available later this year.  Building on 
the results of this study Council would like to develop a coordinated Economic Development 
Strategy with joint goals and actions that leverages the strengths of area municipalities and 
prioritizes joint actions to support and attract the right business, investment and jobs to Waterloo 
Region.    
 
Closely linked with the issue of economic development Council identified the need for a 
continued focus on land development intended primarily for employment purposes.   Council 
would like to be informed about the total land envelope, the phasing priorities and the barriers 
preventing progress in order to cooperatively resolve issues and accelerate current and future 
plans for employment land development.    

Inter-City Rail Service to and From Waterloo Region 
To continue to support many of the Region’s strategic priorities, improved passenger rail service 
between Waterloo Region and the GTA is essential.  Council identified the need for stronger 
strategic advocacy efforts and coordinated action from the Region and area municipalities in 
order to promote improved passenger rail service.  This would include advocating for improved 
VIA rail service, improved GO rail service to Kitchener, and the initiation of GO rail service to 
Cambridge.  This is consistent with Strategic Plan Action 3.4.3, Advocate for improved rail 
service to Kitchener and Cambridge. 

Efficiency and Value for Tax Dollars 
Council identified the need to further explore opportunities to refine and maximize effectiveness 
and efficiencies across the organization in order to find cost savings and make the best use of 
tax payer dollars.  In particular, it will be important to consider options to deal with pressures on 
the Region’s property tax levy caused by Provincial cutbacks, lingering effects of the recession, 
and increases to the Police budget.  Options to consider include changes to the organizational 
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structure, a review of service levels, and potential for increased revenue.  This is consistent with 
Strategic Plan Objective 5.3, Ensure Regional programs and services are efficient and effective 
and demonstrate accountability to the public. 
 
 
4.0 COMMUNICATING PROGRESS OF THE 2011-2014 STRATEGIC PLAN 
 
There will be several methods implemented in order to communicate the Strategic Plan 
progress to the public, community partners, area municipalities and Regional staff.  As part of 
our commitment to greener choices, we are significantly reducing the number of printed 
materials and expanding web-based social media tools to encourage people to view the 
progress online.  An interactive web-based tool was developed for monitoring and 
communicating progress on the Strategic Plan and can be found on the Region’s website under 
the Strategic Plan tab.  The web-based tool portrays detailed information about each of the 
actions and illustrates progress towards the objectives. This web-based tool can be found at 
http://seeourprogress.regionofwaterloo.ca/.  A paper based update summary will be created for 
individuals who do not have access to a computer. 
 
 
5.0 FROM PLANNING TO IMPLEMENTATION   
 
The Strategic Plan provides a framework for other Region of Waterloo plans and initiatives, 
guiding Council and staff in setting priorities and delivering programs to address the changing 
needs of our community.  In order to continue to make the Strategic Plan meaningful and 
relevant during this term of Council, the following components will continue to be implemented. 
 
5.1 Orientation and Training 
 
The Region of Waterloo Strategic Plan is a core component of staff training and ongoing 
development.   It is also a core component of the New Employee Orientation Program (NEOP).   
 
5.2 Alignment and Linkages with Other Corporate and Department Processes and  
 Plans 
 
The annual budget process and resource allocation decisions are aligned with and informed by 
the Strategic Plan.  The Strategic Plan also forms the backbone for planning across all 
departments and service areas including Departmental Strategic Plans. It also provides 
direction for other major planning initiatives such as the Diversity and Inclusion Initiative, Service 
Strategy and communications planning. 

5.3 Partnerships 
 
Ongoing partnerships with area municipalities, community partners and other orders of 
government are key to the Region’s success in the implementation of the Strategic Plan.  Where 
possible and appropriate, we build internal and external relationships to achieve common goals 
and resolve community issues. 
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CORPORATE STRATEGIC PLAN: 
 
The corporate strategic planning process identified in this report provides a framework to ensure 
effective and efficient governance which recognizes and responds to the needs of the 
community through the priorities identified by Regional Council. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:   
 
The financial implications of many of the priority actions identified in this report are included in 
currently approved program budgets.  Some of the actions in the Plan do not yet have adequate 
funding approved.  The financial implications of these actions will be dealt with through the 
annual budget process.  Staff will continue to ensure that the budget process and priorities 
identified through the budget process are fully aligned with the Corporate Strategic Plan.  
Council’s adoption of the Strategic Plan does not represent financial commitment to the actions 
identified in this report.  Rather, it provides a common sense of priorities for the organization to 
guide the allocation of resources.  It provides a useful framework for Council’s annual budget 
deliberations.   
 
OTHER DEPARTMENT CONSULTATIONS/CONCURRENCE: 
 
All Regional departments are involved in developing, implementing and monitoring the progress 
of the Region’s Corporate Strategic Plan and have been consulted with on this report. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Appendix A: Status Update of each of the 2011-2014 Strategic Plan Action Items  
 
 
PREPARED BY:   Lorie Fioze, Manager of Strategic Planning and Strategic Initiatives  
 
APPROVED BY:   Michael L. Murray, Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
 



November 27, 2012  Report:  CA-12-011  

DOCS #1202933-v13   Page 13 of 39 

APPENDIX A 
 
 
Status Update of each of the 2011-2014 Strategic Plan Action Items  
 
Over the last four years the Region has made remarkable progress on the Objectives and 
actions set out in the Strategic Plan.  A complete overview of the status of each of the Strategic 
Plan actions is found in Appendix A.   
 
Focus Area 1:  Environmental Sustainability:  Protect and enhance the environment 
Clean air, water, land and green spaces are critical to keeping Waterloo Region healthy, 
sustainable and livable.  The Region of Waterloo will consider the environment in all of its 
decisions and will work with area municipalities and other community partners to foster 
community stewardship of the natural environment. 
 
Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

1.1  Integrate environmental considerations into the Region’s decision-making. 
1.1.1  
Develop and 
implement an 
integrated funding 
program to  
support community 
based 
environmental 
initiatives. 
 

The integrated Community Environmental Fund was launched in 
November 2011 and included an application package for two 
complementary Environmental Stewardship and Community Sustainability 
grant streams.  In total, 44 applications were received by the January 16, 
2012 deadline, and 28 projects received Council approval for funding in 
early spring.   
 
The fund awarded almost $270,000 which assisted in securing an 
additional investment of over $600,000 from applicants.  The approved 
projects involve a diverse array of stakeholders including: 

 local schools 
 area municipalities  
 non-profit groups 

 
They also address numerous topics such as: 

 protection and rehabilitation of natural areas 
 renewable energy 
 waste reduction 
 promotion of local organic food production 

1.1.2  
Implement the 
Region’s green 
purchasing 
initiative to 
promote and 
encourage the use 
and purchase of 
environmentally 
responsible 
products. 

In order to integrate environmental considerations into day-to-day decision 
making, the Region has established a corporate-wide green purchasing 
initiative. The Green Procurement Committee, established in 2011 
promotes and encourages the use of environmentally responsible 
products and processes.  Examples of this include: 

 Installation of 3750 square yards of environmentally friendly carpet in 
Regional administration buildings which includes lower environmental 
impact throughout the lifecycle of the product (from raw material 
extraction to end of product life); 

 Corporate Print Shop use of 100% post-consumer waste recycled 
paper (nearly 1 million sheets in 2011) as well as the development of 
a print strategy to reduce the Region’s paper use where feasible, and; 

  The Region along with six other southern Ontario municipalities has 
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

consolidated the purchase of bus parts through a single North 
American supplier. Fewer deliveries are made reducing not only GHC 
emissions but also noise pollution. In addition to the reduction of the 
supply chain’s carbon footprint but it also reduced administration 
costs and increased efficiency.  

 Office Supply deliveries have shifted from daily deliveries to weekly 
deliveries thereby reducing GHG emissions by 50% 

1.2  Reduce greenhouse gas emissions and work to improve air quality. 

1.2.1  
Implement the 
Action Plan to 
reduce 
greenhouse gas 
emissions from 
Regional 
operations. 
 

The Region has also launched a plan and has taken action to reduce 
Green House Gas (GHG) emissions from Regional operations.  In 2011 
over 7700 tonnes of GHG emissions reductions were accounted for via 
initiatives such as methane reduction at the landfill; energy/fuel efficiency 
in Regional buildings and vehicle fleet as well as reductions in staff 
business travel.  Also with the completion of six solar photovoltaic rooftop 
installations, 255,000 MWh of clean renewable energy will be produced 
annually. These actions are a positive step towards reaching the Region’s 
10 year GHG reduction target of approximately 40,000 tonnes by the year 
2019 in buildings vehicle fleet reductions in staff business travel. 

1.2.2  
Assist in 
development and 
implementation of 
a Community 
Greenhouse Gas 
(GHG) Action Plan 
and Reduction 
Target. 
 
 

The Region of Waterloo is participating in a multi-stakeholder initiative, 
referred to as the Climate Collaborative, which aims to contribute to the 
development of a community-wide Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Action Plan 
(CR-FM-11-012).  Recently, the collaborative completed a community 
GHG emissions inventory and forecast to determine the ”carbon footprint” 
of Waterloo Region through local energy use, traffic volume, waste sent to 
landfill, and some agricultural activities. The Climate Collaborative has 
successfully leveraged significant financial resources for this project to 
continue the emission reduction planning phase which aims to draw 
important links between achieving related social, economic and 
environmental goals. Ongoing stakeholder engagement and partnership 
building will be critical to the successful development and implementation 
of this action plan which is scheduled to be presented at City and Regional 
Councils in 2013. 

1.2.3  
Develop an Energy 
Reduction Plan for 
Water and 
Wastewater 
facilities. 

Tracking of energy usage at water and wastewater treatment facilities is 
ongoing. Annual reporting will be established to meet the requirements of 
the Green Energy Act commencing July 2013.  Comprehensive review 
and accounting of GHG has been completed for both water and 
wastewater treatment facilities.  Water Services working group has been 
established to develop and implement an energy plan in co-ordination with 
the Corporate Energy Office in the Facilities Management & Fleet Services 
Division.    

1.2.4  
Pilot test 
technology to 
reduce idling in 
Regional fleet. 

A pilot project has been initiated by installing anti-idling devices on eight 
vehicles and five comparable control vehicles. Preliminary data collection 
has been limited to date, however initial analysis suggests that improved 
fuel efficiency of up to 6% could be achieved. The pilot project is 
continuing into 2013 and has been expanded to additional vehicles to 
enhance the data sampling and support the validation process. Later in 
2013, staff will provide an update report upon pilot completion and 
summarize the potential impact of this technology if it was applied more 
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

broadly within the Regional Fleet in terms of potential fuel savings and 
GHG emission reductions.

1.3.  Reduce the amount of waste going to landfill.   
1.3.1  
Develop the Waste 
Management 
Master Plan 
including the 
evaluation of 
alternative 
disposal 
technologies (e.g. 
energy from 
waste) and 
considering 
additional 
materials for 
recycling.  
 
 

A new Waste Management Master Plan (WMMP) is being developed to:  
 Document the current status of the Region’s waste management 

practices, programs, operations and facilities;  
 Provide projections of future diversion rates and residual waste 

generation volumes, and:  
 Establish a preferred waste management strategy that is aligned 

with the current planning, regulatory and technical context.  
 
The primary objective is to prepare a new WMMP that will recommend 
appropriate post-diversion residual waste management strategies that are: 
 

 Environmentally sustainable;  
 Economically viable; 
 Economically, socially and environmentally advantageous to the 

Region; 
 Flexible in nature to adapt to changing legislative and regulatory 

environments, and;  
 Able to be maintained in the long-term.  

 
In accordance with the recommendations contained in E-10-073 (June 22, 
2010) regarding the proposed WMMP, the following technologies and 
alternatives shall be considered, at a minimum: 

 Conventional incineration with heat recovery; 
 Plasma reduction (eg. Plasco pilot plant in Ottawa); 
 Advanced shredding with mechanical sorting and separation of 

residuals; 
 Continued incremental approach to diversion by targeting 

individual materials; 
 Co-process green bin organic material with biosolids; and 
 Process green bin organics at a Region-owned plant. 

1.3.2  
Evaluate and 
consider 
enhancements to 
the Green 
Bin/Green Cart 
Program. 

Green bin organics is now available to all single family homes in the 
Region of Waterloo.  As well, the program has been implemented at 
Regional facilities and to all schools requesting service.   Green bin 
collection is being piloted at some multi-residential sites and several 
commercial establishments have agreed to participate in a demonstration 
pilot.   Participation and waste audits are underway and efforts are 
focused on building single family home participation through various media 
including opportunities to meet one-on-one with citizens.  The green bin 
program will also be evaluated as part of the Waste Management Master 
Plan.    

1.4  Protect the quality and the quantity of our drinking water sources. 
1.4.1  
Complete the 
Wastewater 
Treatment Plant 

Upgrades to the Wastewater Treatment Plant in Kitchener and Waterloo 
continue to improve effluent quality and reduce impacts on the Grand 
River.   
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

Upgrades in 
Kitchener & 
Waterloo to 
improve effluent 
quality and reduce 
impacts on the 
Grand River.   

 
Waterloo WWTP Upgrades include a total of 4 construction contracts, 
current status is as follows: 
Contract 1 – Completed in 2010 
Contract 2 – Completed in 2011 
Contract 3 – Construction ongoing with completion scheduled in 2013 
Contract 4 – Construction ongoing with completion scheduled in 2014 
 
Kitchener WWTP Upgrades will include multiple construction contracts, 
current status is as follows: 

 Kitchener Chlorination/Dechlorination Upgrades – Completed in 
2010 

 Manitou Biosolids Dewatering Facility – Completed in 2012 
 Kitchener Plant 1 Aeration Upgrades – Completed in 2012 
 Kitchener Plant 2 Aeration Upgrades and UV Disinfection - 

Construction ongoing with completion scheduled in 2013 
 Kitchener Biosolids Lagoon Decommissioning – Construction 

scheduled for 2013 
 Kitchener Biosolids Pumping Upgrades - Construction scheduled 

for 2013 
 Kitchener New Plant 3 – Three construction contracts scheduled 

for 2014-2018 
 Additional Kitchener Upgrades – Construction contracts scheduled 

for 2018-2021 
1.4.2  
Integrate the 
Provincial Water 
Protection Strategy 
& Regional Source 
Protection Plan to 
minimize the risk 
of historic, existing 
and future land 
uses on municipal 
water supplies.  
 
 

The Clean Water Act requires Ontario municipalities and conservation 
authorities to develop a source protection plan to protect municipal 
drinking water supply sources.   
 
The Grand River Conservation Authority has the primary responsibility for 
assembling the plan on behalf of the independent Source Protection 
Committee who is responsible for submitting the plan to the province for 
approval by December 31, 2012.   
 
The Region of Waterloo is taking the lead in developing the policies for 
Waterloo Region. The policies will be included in the plan and will build on 
our existing Water Resources Protection Strategy.  Following the first year 
of plan implementation, full integration (staffing and capital budgets) of the 
two programs will be complete. 
 
Approaches and draft policies were presented to Regional Council in 
September 2011 and January 2012.  A report was presented to Regional 
Council in August 2012 approving final draft policies. The policies are to 
be sent to the Source Protection Committee for inclusion in the plan and 
for further consultation.  The cost implications including staffing 
requirements will also be presented to the committee.   
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

The greatest impact of the proposed plan is the development of the Risk 
Management Official and Inspector positions that are required to 
implement the plan.   

1.4.3  
Update and 
continue to 
implement the 
Water Efficiency 
Master Plan. 

A Water Efficiency Master Plan (WEMP) update project scoping 
memorandum has been written for review by senior staff.  The 
memorandum serves as the outline for a project report.  Topics in the 
memorandum include the following: 

 Steering Committee 
 Project Team 
 WEMP Update Deliverables 
 Project Timing 
 Budget Estimate 
 Next Steps 

1.5  Restore and preserve green space, agricultural land and sensitive environmental 
areas. 
1.5.1  
Develop 
Implementation 
Guidelines for 
Environmental 
Impact Statements 
under the new 
Regional Official 
Plan. 

The Greenlands Network Implementation Guideline was circulated to 
agencies and the environmental consulting community for comment and 
was the subject of a Public Meeting of the Planning and Works Committee 
in March 2011. The guideline is ready to be submitted for Council 
consideration, but cannot be submitted until the implementing policy in the 
Regional Official Plan is approved by the Ontario Municipal Board (OMB). 

1.5.2  
Complete 
operating plans for 
all Regional 
Forests. 
 
  

Since Council approval of the Regional Forest Management Plan in 2006, 
detailed Operating Management Plans for Regional Forests and other 
Regionally-owned woodlands have been prepared, approved by Council 
and implemented.  
 
There was a major forest management project that occurred this year in 
the Doon Regional Forest in collaboration with the Waterloo Stewardship 
Network. This has addressed the significantly overdue thinning of conifer 
plantations and control of invasive Buckthorn. In recent months, the 
Operating Management Plans for the Macton, Townline, and Hilborn 
Regional Forests have been reviewed by E.E.A.C. and approved by 
Council.  This work is in addition to the ongoing maintenance of regional 
forests which entails the removal of hazardous trees and routine trail 
maintenance. 
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

1.5.3  
Foster 
partnerships to 
promote and 
protect Waterloo 
Region’s 
environmentally 
sensitive lands 
(e.g. rare 
Charitable 
Research 
Reserve, Grand 
River Corridor, 
Conservation 
Easements, 
potential land trust, 
etc.) 

In 2011, the Community Environmental Fund was established, 
incorporating the former Environmental Stewardship Fund. The application 
package was circulated in late 2011 and the Environmental Stewardship 
and Environmental Sustainability grants were approved by Council in 
winter and spring of 2012. Many of the projects are now underway, and 
some have been completed.  
 
Exploratory work on the potential Land Trust has yet to be initiated.  
 

1.5.4  
Work in 
partnership with 
various 
stakeholders to 
develop policies, 
and programs to 
provide shade 
(e.g. tree canopy) 
in our 
communities.   

The Region has been working in partnership with area municipalities, local 
school boards, and community organizations to develop policies and 
programs to provide shade (e.g., tree canopy) in our communities.   From 
the outset of the shade policy initiative, it was recognized that no single 
agency could bring about all necessary changes to the tree canopy. The 
ongoing collaboration reflects the fact that shade policy is a convergence 
of several objectives in the strategic plan: cancer prevention, urban air 
quality, and the design of streets and public places.  
 

 



November 27, 2012  Report:  CA-12-011  

DOCS #1202933-v13   Page 19 of 39 

Focus Area 2:  Growth Management and Prosperity:  
Manage growth to foster thriving and productive urban and rural communities. 
 
Managing and shaping growth to maintain rural and urban harmony is key to fostering individual 
and community well-being.  The Region of Waterloo is implementing a Growth Management 
Plan and will work in partnership with the community and area municipalities to cultivate a 
vibrant region that is globally competitive, supports a diverse and prosperous economy, 
preserves heritage and creates spaces that maintain quality of life for people of Waterloo 
Region. 
 
Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

2.1.  Encourage compact, livable urban and rural settlement form.   
2.1.1  
Implement a 
sustainable 
Brownfield 
Program to 
promote the 
redevelopment of 
previously 
contaminated 
sites. 
 
 

In October 2006, Regional Council approved the framework for a Regional 
Brownfields Financial Incentive Pilot Program (now referred to as the 
Brownfields Financial Incentive Program or BFIP) to promote the 
redevelopment of previously contaminated sites.  There has been 
significant interest in the program by the private sector and the program is 
proving to be successful in helping to achieve these goals. Overall, 18 
applications have been approved and approximately $1.7 million in 
assistance has been provided to date through the BFIP program’s three 
components. This has contributed to the potential remediation and 
redevelopment of 11 sites within the Cities of Cambridge, Kitchener and 
Waterloo. In addition, approximately 285 new residential units and 
441,000 sq. feet of non-residential space have been redeveloped (with 
building permits valued at approximately $50.5 million).  
 
The Region and Area Municipalities have successfully collaborated on 
three major joint Tax Increment Grant (TIG) applications for the projects 
known as The Tannery District (Kitchener), Waterscape on the Grand 
River (Cambridge) and 750 Lawrence St. (Cambridge).  The Tannery 
District (winner of the 2011 CUI Brownie award for best project) is a highly 
successful adaptive reuse project that transformed a contaminated 
manufacturing facility into a mixed used complex now employing 
approximately 1000 people. Waterscape on the Grand River (winner of a 
2010 CUI Brownie Award) resulted in the redevelopment of an extremely 
challenging underutilized and environmentally impacted site into 113 new 
residential units and the potential for additional residential and 
hotel/convention space in the future. Lastly, the TIG for 750 Lawrence 
Street allowed for the remediation of a long-term brownfield site and its 
renewal as a 103 townhouse infill development. 
 
In February 2012, staff provided an update on the Brownfields Financial 
Incentive Pilot Program (BFIP) (please see Report No. P-12-009/F-12-
016). This report provided more detailed information regarding the status 
of the BFIP implementation and approved funding, and an overview of 
experience gained through the implementation of the BFIP to date. It also 
outlined next steps with respect to the development of a sustainable 
financial incentive funding model for the program and the ongoing 
collaborative efforts between the Region and area municipalities. The 
future of the program is dependent upon securing sustainable funding. 
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

2.1.2  
Work with area 
municipalities to 
develop and 
implement a 
comprehensive 
strategy to 
promote 
intensification and 
reurbanization 
within existing 
urban areas. 

Staff are working with the Area Municipalities to develop a comprehensive 
Reurbanization Strategy to promote intensification and reurbanization 
within existing urban areas.  This Strategy will assist in the implementation 
of several key policy directives, including the Growth Plan for the Greater 
Golden Horseshoe (2007) and the Regional Official Plan (2009).  
Coordination and consultation with Area Municipal partners is ongoing, 
with a follow-up report for Council consideration anticipated by early 2013. 
 
The Central Transit Corridor Community Building Strategy is well 
underway and expected to be complete by the end of 2012. This will be a 
key document in guiding the future preparation of Station Area Plans by 
area municipalities. 
 
Other key initiatives include the creation of the Re-urbanization 
Community Advisory Panel and the review of the Brownfields Financial 
Incentive Pilot Program. Co-ordination and consultation with area 
municipal partners is ongoing, with a follow-up report for Council 
consideration anticipated for early 2013. 

2.2  Develop, optimize and maintain infrastructure to meet current and projected needs.    
2.2.1  
Continue to 
prioritize and 
implement capital 
program projects 
required to meet 
community needs 
and ensure 
sustainability. 

Capital investment in the Region’s infrastructure projects is resulting in 
delivery of high quality facilities which meet the needs of the community 
while mitigating adverse impacts to both the social and natural 
environments.  The Region continues to undertake construction projects 
as scheduled in the 2012 Ten Year Transportation Capital Program, Ten 
Year Water Capital Program, Ten Year Wastewater Capital Program and 
Ten Year Waste Management Capital Program. 

2.2.2  
Develop and 
implement a 
comprehensive 
asset 
management 
strategy to achieve 
optimal long-term 
value from 
regional 
infrastructure.  

In 2011, the Region initiated an Asset Management project to make asset 
management principles a consideration in all decisions related to Regional 
facilities and develop a consistent, sustainable and documented approach 
to asset management.  Consultant services have been retained to provide 
consulting services for the Asset Management Strategy Project for the 
Transportation and Environmental Services (TES) Department and the 
Facilities Management and Fleet Services Divisions.  The infrastructure 
operated and managed by TES (Transportation (Roads and Airport), 
Water Services and Waste Management Divisions) and the Facilities 
Management and Fleet Services Divisions represents the vast majority of 
assets owned by the Region. 

2.2.3  
Complete the 
Regional 
Development 
Charge By-law 
Review and 
Update. 

The Regional Development Charge (RDC) is a significant component of 
the Region’s Capital Financing Program and the current RDC By-law 
expires in July 2014. This is an important mechanism for ensuring 
availability of adequate funding for the Region’s infrastructure expansions 
needed to accommodate future growth.  In the fall of 2012, a Request for 
Proposals for consulting services will be issued for the preparation of the 
required Background Study.  It is expected that the review will be 
completed and a new RDC By-law approved in 2013. 
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

2.3  Support a diverse, innovative and globally competitive economy. 
2.3.1  
Advance New East 
Side Employment 
Lands toward 
Development 
Readiness. 
 
  

In order to advance new East Side employment lands toward development 
readiness, a Master Environmental Servicing Plan (MESP) and 
Community Plan are being developed. The MESP is being co-managed by 
the City of Cambridge and the Grand River Conservation Authority 
(GRCA).  The primary focus of the MESP is on the lands designated in the 
new Regional Official Plan as Prime Industrial Strategic Reserve (PISR). 
This work will advance the lands through the Environmental Assessment 
(EA) process towards development readiness for new employment 
opportunities.  Representatives from the Region, GRCA, City of 
Cambridge, City of Kitchener, Township of Woolwich and Region of 
Waterloo International Airport have worked to understand the high level 
financial feasibility of developing the East Side lands, prepared a 
background report, advanced the Freeport Creek sub-watershed study 
and developed servicing and transportation options.  To date, two public 
information centres have been held to introduce the project and to seek 
public input.  It is anticipated the MESP will be finalized by the end of 2012 
and will ultimately include transportation, environmental, servicing, sub-
watershed and community planning information.   

2.3.2  
Continue to 
identify and 
support 
partnership 
opportunities that 
foster innovation 
and economic 
development (e.g. 
post secondary 
institutions, 
technology, 
manufacturing, 
food processing, 
etc.)  

The Region continues to provide financial support to various organizations 
that promote economic development, including:  

 Canada's Technology Triangle (CTT)  
 Waterloo Region Tourism Marketing Corporation (WRTMC) 
 Creative Enterprise Initiatives (CEI)  
 Communitech  

 
The Region also has a number of ongoing collaborative initiatives with the 
University of Waterloo, Wilfrid Laurier University and Conestoga College 
and is working with Communitech to promote innovative uses of 
information technology within Regional programs. 

2.3.3  
Strengthen the 
coordination and 
implementation of 
economic 
development 
activities by 
clarifying the roles 
and 
responsibilities of 
the Region, area 
municipalities and 
other key 
stakeholders (e.g. 

In order to strengthen the coordination and implementation of economic 
development activities in Waterloo Region, area municipalities and the 
Region have engaged a consultant to review the roles and responsibilities 
of various organizations involved in economic development.  This review 
will help to identify any significant overlaps and gaps and recommend 
alternate approaches to strengthen the overall approach to economic 
development in Waterloo Region.  The consultant's report is expected in 
late 2012. 
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

Canada’s 
Technology 
Triangle). 
2.4  Promote and enhance arts, culture and heritage. 
2.4.1  
Work with the 
Creative 
Enterprise 
Enabling 
Organization, area 
municipalities and 
others to 
strengthen the arts 
and culture sector. 
 
 

Through the 2012 budget process, Regional Council allocated $33,000 to 
Canadian Enterprise Initiatives (CEI) for investment in the cultural sector.  
This has been matched with private sector funding, and has helped to fund 
the provision of low-rent working space for artists in the region.  Also in 
2012, through meetings with area municipal CAOs and the Creative 
Enterprise Initiative, several scenarios for changing the Region’s 
involvement in funding cultural organizations were explored, with the 
consensus being to refine the current approach.  As approved by Council 
on October 3, 2012 and subject to approval through the 2013 budget 
process, the refined approach includes: funding for core arts and culture 
organizations from 2013 through 2015; funding for collaborative initiatives 
proposed by at least three art galleries; and annual funding in the amount 
of the previous year’s allocation plus $1 per capita of population increase 
to flow through Creative Enterprise Initiative in support of local arts and 
culture organizations.  
 
A second element of this initiative is to jointly develop a community-based 
cultural development project.  In August 2012, CEI submitted an 
application for funding a project to collect, document and map detailed 
artist, venue and cultural attraction data which would involve funding and 
support from all municipalities.  Further work is needed to review and 
refine the Region’s role in arts and culture. 
 
 

2.4.2  
Provide 
opportunities to 
optimize the use of 
Regional cultural 
facilities, with a 
focus on the new 
Waterloo Region 
Museum. 
 
 

Waterloo Region Museum is developing marketing strategies and 
implementation plans for specific growth markets including: 

 Curriculum-based education programs;  
 Casual visitation from within Waterloo Region;  
 Ontario travel and tourism within a four hour drive of Waterloo 

Region;  
 Inbound travel via the group tour market.   

It is projected that Waterloo Region Museum will see 72,000 visitors in 
2012, an 80% increase over typical usage prior to completion of the new 
museum building and galleries. 
 
Community collaborative marketing efforts to promote and enhance arts, 
culture and heritage have had some initial success.  For example the 
Kitchener-Waterloo Art Gallery, Clay and Class Gallery and Cambridge 
Galleries saw a 25% increase in summer attendance (32,544 in 2012 
compared with 26,070 in 2011).  The Region has also increased its grants 
and operational funding of external arts, culture and heritage organizations 
by 5% in 2012 over 2011. 
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

2.4.3  
Establish a 
Regional Heritage 
Conservation 
Toolbox. 

The Heritage Planning Advisory Committee (HPAC) has investigated 
various tax supported funding tools that are available to support heritage 
conservation, and has written a summary memo recommending the 
Waterloo Region Heritage Foundation (WRHF) grants as the best option.  
HPAC will help to promote and educate the public about the WRHF 
grants. 
 
Public consultation on the Cultural Heritage Landscape Implementation 
Guideline was held from August to October 2012; recommendations for 
final approval are anticipated in spring 2013.  The Implementation 
Guidelines for Regionally Significant Heritage Resources and Archeology 
will be drafted and submitted for public consultation in 2013. 
 
Identification of regionally significant heritage resources is on-going.  To 
date, bridges and public buildings have been assessed. 
 
A Heritage Conservation Toolbox webpage has been created on the 
Region’s website to consolidate these and other heritage information 
resources. 
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Focus Area 3:  Sustainable Transportation:   
Develop greater, more sustainable and safe transportation choices. 
 
The transportation system will help balance cultural, economic, environmental and social issues 
to ensure Waterloo Region continues to be a great place to live and work. The transportation 
system will offer accessible and affordable choices for moving people and goods in a safe, 
integrated and seamless manner which will support a sustainable and thriving community for 
current and future generations.  The Region is implementing a Transportation Master Plan:  
Moving Forward 2031, that defines how the transportation system will grow and change in the 
coming decades. 
 
Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions 

3.1  Implement a Rapid Transit System in the Central Transit Corridor fully integrated 
with an expanded conventional transit system. 
3.1.1  
Develop an 
implementation 
plan for rapid 
transit including 
corridor and 
station area 
planning. 
 
 

Revenue service for Stage 1 of Light Rail Transit (LRT) is expected to 
begin in 2017. 
 
Revenue service for Adapted Bus Rapid Transit (aBRT) is expected to 
begin in late 2014/early 2015. 
 
The Request for Qualifications for the project will be issued in 2012.  
Subsequently, a short-list of bidders will be identified by early 2013.  
 
A Request for Proposals (RFP) will be issued to the short-listed teams 
around March 2013.  The RFP stage will be roughly five to seven months 
long with submissions anticipated by fall 2013.  
 
This phase will be completed with the selection of a team by late 
2013/early 2014.  The Region would then proceed with the financial and 
commercial close with the selected team, expected to be completed by 
late spring 2014.  A notice to proceed for construction will be given 
thereafter. Construction for this project is expected to begin in summer 
2014.  
 
Staff is currently negotiating with Metrolinx to purchase Light Rail vehicles 
along with the opportunity to test pilot vehicles in the Region.   
 
Subject to successful discussions and subsequent Council approval, the 
pilot testing could begin in 2015. Stage 1 of the LRT project will be 
completed by 2017. 
 
aBRT is expected to begin in late 2014/early 2015. 

3.1.2  
Expand the bus 
network 
(Conventional 
Transit) and begin 
to integrate it with 
the future Rapid 
Transit System.   

The comprehensive redesign of the transit network is based on a series of 
express corridors that connect with rapid transit. The GRT 2011–14 
Business Plan, approved February 8, 2012, determined the business 
requirements necessary to implement key express corridors and local 
service changes that would integrate the bus network with the approved 
LRT and aBRT service.  
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Beginning in 2014, a business plan will be developed for the 2015 – 2018 
period that will include a review of proposed route designs and priorities 
for express corridor implementation before completion of the LRT system. 
Data from the Transportation Tomorrow Survey (TTS), expected in 2013, 
will be used to update the redesigned network. 

3.1.3  
Develop and 
implement 
programs to 
improve access to 
and awareness of 
public transit (GRT 
and Mobility Plus). 
 

In order to improve access to and awareness of GRT and Mobility Plus 
best practices have been researched, stakeholders have been consulted 
and training and resources have been created. The training has been 
developed in order assist the public who have barriers to learning to ride 
the bus independently and in 2012 will target MobilityPLUS customers and 
new Canadians.  Seniors, students and people living with disabilities not 
eligible for MobilityPLUS will commence in 2013.   
 
By 2013, all GRT buses will be accessible to people with mobility 
challenges. Drivers lower the front of the bus to the height of the curb to 
make it easier to walk right in. A ramp can also be extended onto the 
sidewalk so that customers can drive their wheelchair or small scooter 
easily onto the bus, and park in the priority seating area reserved for 
customers with a disability. There are no stairs to climb on these low-floor 
buses.  

3.2  Develop, promote and integrate active forms of transportation (cycling and walking). 
 
3.2.1  
Work with Local 
Municipalities and 
other stakeholders 
to develop an 
integrated and 
safe network of 
regional, local and 
off-road cycling 
and walking 
routes. 
 
 

Walk Cycle Waterloo Region is an Active Transportation Master Plan to 
guide the implementation of cycling and walking in the Region for the next 
20 years to achieve modal share targets set out in the Regional 
Transportation Master Plan (RTMP).  The RTMP targets more than double 
the walking and cycling modes on Regional roads over the next 20 years.   
 
Walk Cycle Waterloo Region brings together several areas of interest in a 
comprehensive action plan.  The areas include:  

 “Green” policy chapter for the design and guidance of new 
pedestrian and cycling infrastructure;  

 Cycling and pedestrian networks along with prioritization for 
implementation and financing strategies;  

 A recommended winter network, signage strategy, behavioural 
shift program, performance monitoring and pilot projects.  

 
The plan is currently in draft form.  Public consultations took place in the 
fall of 2012 on the draft plan.   

3.2.2  
Work with the 
community to 
develop and 
support a 
Transportation 
Management 
Association that 
would work with 
employers to 
encourage and 

The TravelWise Transportation Management Association (TMA) was 
officially launched in partnership with the three cities, local businesses and 
post secondary institutions in January 2012. The TMA began with 15 
member organizations in January and has grown to 17 as of July 2012.  
Over 660 registered employees of these organizations are actively 
participating in TMA services such as the GRT corporate discount transit 
passes. Initial success of the TMA has generated interest from additional 
organizations that are requesting membership and is expected to grow to 
20 by 2015. 
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support active and 
sustainable 
transportation. 
3.3  Optimize existing road capacity to safely manage traffic throughout Waterloo Region.
3.3.1  
Identify and 
address priority 
transportation 
bottlenecks to 
reduce road 
congestion and 
improve safety 
(e.g. roundabouts, 
queue jump lanes 
for transit, turn 
lanes at signalized 
intersections, etc.).   

The Region is continually reviewing the Regional road network to identify 
specific areas where congestion and operational issues are occurring.  
These locations are prioritized on an annual basis and solutions are then 
developed and implemented.  One of the activities to improve road safety 
is a Roundabout Essentials community education campaign which 
includes a new roundabout training video.  This video was launched in 
2012 and teaches the public the essential skills in order to drive a 
roundabout properly, safely and easily.   
  
 

3.3.2  
Implement proven 
roadway safety 
strategies and 
education to 
enhance the safety 
of our roadways. 

Staff has completed and provided Regional Council the 2011 annual 
collision report in September 2012.  This report identified specific priority 
roadway segments that will be considered for potential safety 
“countermeasures”.  A new education program related to roundabouts was 
released in July, 2012 and a new radio ad began airing in September 2012 
to help mitigate pedestrian collisions in the last quarter of 2011. 

3.4  Encourage improvements to inter-city transportation services to and from Waterloo 
Region. 
3.4.1  
Implement the 
multimodal 
transportation hub 
at Victoria and 
King Streets. 
 
 
 
 
 

Work is continuing on the many studies and initiatives to prepare the 
King/Victoria Transit Hub site ready for redevelopment over the next few 
years. The Hub will be a central transportation node on the Regional 
Rapid Transit (RT) line and serve as an iconic site with high quality, high 
density, mixed-use land development. It is located on the north-east 
quadrant of the intersection of King and Victoria Streets.  Property 
acquisition is nearly complete.  Two buildings on the site have been 
demolished to date.  Environmental work is underway, as are a number of 
studies to include market scoping, business case, environmental 
assessments for both the transit infrastructure and the closure of Waterloo 
Street, planning justification, heritage impact assessment, noise and 
vibration, and urban design.  The Region has submitted a formal 
application to the City of Kitchener to change its Official Plan and Zoning 
Bylaw to allow for the full range of land uses we may want to consider at 
the site. 
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3.4.2  
Actively participate 
in the Ministry of 
Transportation’s 
long term strategic 
plan for South 
Central Ontario.   
 

Ontario’s Ministry of Transportation (MTO) has initiated the data collection 
component of this study.  
 
A survey for post-secondary students’ travel characteristics has been 
completed. A passenger car Origin-Destination survey and traffic count 
program on provincial highways has been initiated and will be completed 
in fall 2012. A survey of commercial vehicles has also been completed and 
the data is being analyzed. This data is required as input to MTO’s long 
term strategic plan for South Central Ontario (Waterloo, Wellington, Brant). 
The data will also supplement the Region of Waterloo’s travel forecasting 
model.  
 
Development of the strategic plan is expected to begin in 2013 and be 
complete by spring 2015. 

3.4.3  
Advocate for 
improved Rail 
service to 
Kitchener and 
Cambridge. 

GO Bus service was introduced to Cambridge, Kitchener and Waterloo on 
October 31, 2009. GO Rail service began on December 19, 2011. VIA Rail 
recently announced reductions in service to Kitchener and details are 
forthcoming.  
 
The Region introduced a shuttle that connects passengers between the 
Charles Street Terminal to the train station. In addition, a co-fare has been 
implemented with GO Transit so that users can get a reduced fare on GRT 
buses.  
 
The completion of the King/Victoria Transit Hub will further integrate GRT, 
GO Transit, VIA and other inter-regional modes of transportation.  
 
The 2009 Cambridge to GTA Rail Passenger Feasibility Study identified 
the existing train station located on Malcolm Street near Water Street as a 
possible central Cambridge GO Transit rail station. This site and others 
will be considered for a multi-modal transportation hub as part of the 
Phase two LRT Transit Project Assessment for the Fairview Mall to Ainslie 
Street section scheduled for 2014.  
 
Staff will continue to work with GO Transit and VIA Rail to pursue 
opportunities to increase inter-regional bus and rail passenger service to 
Waterloo Region. 

3.4.4  
Support the growth 
of aviation-related 
activities at the 
Region of 
Waterloo 
International 
Airport, and 
investigate the 
potential for further 
expansion of the 
Airport.   

Staff continues to develop airport marketing strategies to increase use of 
existing services provided by airlines and businesses at the airport as well 
as attract new airlines and businesses.   
 
American Airlines started their new non-stop service to Chicago on June 
14, 2012.  The development of a new Airport Master Plan is scheduled to 
start in fall 2012 and will be completed over a two to three year period.   
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Focus Area 4:  Healthy and Inclusive Communities:   
Foster healthy, safe, inclusive and caring communities.  
 
The Region of Waterloo will work with community partners to take actions to reduce inequities 
and enhance community health, safety, inclusion and quality of life.  The Region plans and 
provides programs and services to respond to the changing demographics and diverse needs of 
the community.  This creates opportunities for people to develop to their full potential and to 
make a positive difference at all stages of life.  
 
Strategic Objectives  Actions 
4.1  Work collaboratively to reduce poverty. 
4.1.1  
Develop and 
implement the Region 
of Waterloo’s 
comprehensive 
approach to poverty 
reduction.  
 
 

While the corporate-wide Comprehensive Approach is being shaped 
by the Regional Poverty Reduction Steering committee (RPRSC), 
input has been sought from a number of groups including: a Regional 
staff working group, community reference groups, staff consultations 
and a community forum. The involvement of existing community 
reference groups provided an opportunity for key stakeholders, 
including people living in poverty, to be involved and informed in the 
process to develop the Comprehensive Approach to poverty 
reduction.  
 
The RPRSC has considered action ideas generated through the 
consultation process and further developed key poverty reduction 
actions for consideration and review.  Staff are preparing the 
Comprehensive Approach to Poverty document. The final report is to 
be considered by Council in December 2012.    

4.1.2  
Continue to 
collaborate with 
community partners in 
broad based efforts to 
reduce poverty.   

The Region continues to participate in local initiatives to reduce 
poverty including STEP Home Waterloo Region Shares, Rural 
Realities Network Community Outreach Program and the Counselling 
Collaborative.  Through the provision of funding for Opportunities 
Waterloo Region, there was local implementation of the Canada 
Learning Bond and free income tax clinics for those living on a low 
income.  The Region also continues to participate in a number of 
networks and partnerships, the focus of which is the education of 
poverty.   

4.2  Foster healthy living through information, education, policy development and health 
promotion. 
4.2.1  
Work with community 
partners to improve 
harm reduction and 
prevention 
programming for 
substance misuse. 
 

To date, the Region has completed the literature review and 
background documentation to support the completion of the 
Integrated Drug Strategy which provides the template and purpose for 
community involvement.   
 
Start up of the community based harm reduction advisory group is 
projected for the fall of 2012.  The work of the group will be focused 
on the community at large. 

4.2.2  
Establish and co-
ordinate a Healthy 
Communities 
Partnership in 

The Waterloo Region Healthy Communities Partnership is part of a 
provincially mandated health promotion strategy that asks local 
community members to identify and advocate for local policy actions 
to improve health outcomes and reduce levels of chronic disease.  
The Region has established and coordinated a Healthy Communities 
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Strategic Objectives  Actions 
Waterloo Region to 
take action regarding 
three community 
identified priorities:  
healthy eating, 
physical activity, and 
mental health 
promotion.  
 

Partnership to take action regarding three community identified 
priorities:  healthy eating, physical activity, and mental health 
promotion.  The Waterloo Region Healthy Communities Partnership is 
part of a provincially mandated health promotion strategy that asks 
local community members to identify and advocate for local policy 
actions to improve health outcomes and reduce levels of chronic 
disease. Based on feedback from a community consultation process, 
the partnership has decided to focus on three policy areas: healthy 
eating, physical activity, and mental health.  In January 2012, the 
partnership secured funds from the Ministry of Health and Long-Term 
Care (MOHLTC) to complete three projects to advance the policy 
goals of its partner networks.  

4.2.3  
Plan and implement a 
Youth Engagement 
Initiative to inform and 
direct youth-based 
health promotion work.

Health promotion projects to engage youth have placed a focus 
primarily on tobacco use prevention, as well as other correlated 
chronic disease and injury prevention risk factors this past year.  For 
the remainder of 2012 and 2013, youth volunteers will continue to 
develop campaigns that focus on changing youth behaviours and 
perception toward tobacco; including smoke-free movies and 
flavoured tobacco.  Recruitment of additional youth volunteers is will 
occur in 2012. In preparation, a recruitment plan and a youth 
volunteer orientation manual have been developed.  

4.3  Enhance local health service delivery by optimizing Emergency Medical Services 
(EMS) delivery and collaborating with health care partners to support system change. 
4.3.1  
Continue to address 
population growth and 
demographic changes 
through the 
Emergency Medical 
Services (EMS) 
Master Plan. 

Emergency Medical Services (EMS) is currently in the fifth year of a 
25 year plan with staffing increases dependent on Council approval 
each budget cycle.  The plan is reviewed regularly through our 
System Performance reports to the Community Services Committee 
and a new Response Time Performance Plan was approved by 
Council in October.  Year-to-date (Jan-Oct), the Region-wide 
emergency response time is 12 minutes 09 seconds or less 90% of 
the time, a reduction of 15 seconds over the 2011 value.   

4.3.2  
Advocate and support 
health care system 
changes to reduce 
EMS offload delays in 
area hospitals. 

EMS continues ongoing advocacy with hospital senior administrators, 
the Ministry of Health and Long Term Care, Local Health Integration 
Network (LHIN) and Community Care Access Centre (CCAC) to 
support health care system changes to reduce EMS offload delays in 
area hospitals. Year to date, Offload Delays have stabilized at 2011 
levels. 

4.4  Enhance community safety and crime prevention. 
4.4.1  
Work with the Crime 
Prevention Council to 
develop an Integrated 
Drugs Strategy. 
 
 

The Waterloo Region Integrated Drugs Strategy (WRIDS) aims to 
prevent, reduce and/or eliminate problematic use of alcohol, 
prescription medication, and illicit substances. The WRIDS provides a 
roadmap of where the community wants to go and how we plan to get 
there. 
 
The strategy was developed by a 26-member task force who met 
over two and a half years and brought forth 99 recommendations to 
make Waterloo Region safer and healthier.  The strategy was 
approved in principle by the Waterloo Region Crime Prevention 
Council (WRCPC) in December 2011. 
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Strategic Objectives  Actions 
 
Several recommendations are being implemented including research 
and education recommendations.  Presentations about the strategy 
that aim to engage the local community are on-going.  Efforts are 
underway at both WRCPC and Waterloo Region Public Health to 
provide structure and resources for implementation, including the 
establishment of a formal Implementation Steering Committee by 
WRCPC. 
 
The success of the strategy depends on the involvement of citizens, 
service providers, funders and government to dedicate time and 
resources towards implementing recommendations that are informed 
by good science and the collective wisdom of the community. 

4.4.2  
Work with the Crime 
Prevention Council to 
develop and 
implement the Street 
Gang Prevention 
Project. 

The Waterloo Region Crime Prevention Council received nearly $3.8 
million over 45 months from the National Crime Prevention 
Strategy for a collaborative gang prevention project involving several 
community partners.  The project is called “inREACH” and is a youth 
gang prevention program for Waterloo Region. The program is 
designed to work with youth between the ages of 13-24 who are 
involved in gang activity or at-risk of being involved in gang activity.  
To date, inREACH has made significant strides and all three of 
phases of the project have been successfully implemented. Council 
will encourage the federal government to continue to financially 
support the inReach program of the Waterloo Region Crime 
Prevention Council. 
 
inREACH is a community collaborative with multiple project partners 
listed below: 

 House of Friendship 
 Mosaic Family Counselling 
 Preston Heights Community Group 
 Kinbridge Community Association 
 Waterloo Regional Police Services 
 Reaching Our Outdoor Friends (ROOF) 
 John Howard Society 
 St Mary’s Counselling Services 
 Lutherwood 
 Waterloo Region District School Board  
 Waterloo Catholic District School Board 
 Region of Waterloo (Waterloo Region Crime Prevention 

Council) 
There are also many referral, project committee and community 
partners who provide in-kind support to the project who have not 
been listed. 

4.5  Work collaboratively to increase the supply and range of affordable housing and 
reduce homelessness. 
4.5.1  
Update and implement 
the Homelessness to 

The All Roads Lead to Home: The Homelessness to Housing Stability 
Strategy of Waterloo Region update process began in early 2011.  
The updated strategy, once completed, will consist of two 
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Strategic Objectives  Actions 
Housing Stability 
Strategy.  
 
 

components; a Policy Framework which will provide a common point 
of reference and guidelines for thinking about how to end 
homelessness and an Action Framework which identifies what needs 
to change, how change should be supported and what measures 
should be used for evaluating the impact of change over time.  The 
Policy Framework was completed in January 2012 and was endorsed 
by 29 organizations and groups including Regional Council.  The 
Strategy Action Framework will go forward to Regional Council in fall 
2012.    

4.5.2  
Update and monitor 
the implementation of 
the Region of 
Waterloo Affordable 
Housing Strategy 
prioritizing the creation 
of new supportive and 
lower income housing. 

On October 29, 2008, Regional Council endorsed a new Affordable 
Housing Strategy (AHS) to help create at least 500 new units of 
sustainable affordable housing between 2008 and the end of 2013. 
By the end of 2011, the Region had developed 382 units (75 per cent) 
towards the 500-unit goal, including 284 affordable rental and 
supportive housing units and 98 affordable homeownerships.  On 
March 8, 2012, Regional Council approved five new priority projects 
representing up to 70 new affordable rental and supportive housing 
units throughout the region. This would bring the AHS total to 452 
new units created, representing 90 per cent of the 500-unit goal.  By 
the end of 2011 there are 3,280 active households on the waiting list.  

4.6  Collaborate with the community to support the development of services for 
children. 

4.6.1  
Develop and 
implement an Early 
Years System Plan 
(Children’s Strategy). 
 

In 2011 the Region of Waterloo Children and Parent Services 
committee endorsed a decision to expand the mandate from 0-6 to 0-
12 yrs with the potential of expanding up to 18 yrs of age. This 
change in mandate and movement to a larger planning body was 
supported by the community through two planning forums held in 
2011. The new committee is now called The Children’s Planning 
Table.  A terms of reference, mandate, vision and planning principles 
were developed early in 2012. The purpose is to serve as an 
integrated planning table for early years services from pre-birth to 12 
years of age.  The current membership has representation from over 
40 agencies, meetings are conducted in an open forum format with 
attendance ranging from 65 to 150 participants.  
 
Four meetings were scheduled for 2012 with a focus on developing a 
common knowledge and understanding of service system integration.  
To date members have heard about other community approaches to 
system integration, evaluation and research and provided input into 
general areas of focus that will shape the development of a plan in 
2013.  

4.6.2  
Work with the Boards 
of Education to 
implement the 
Provincial Early 
Learning Framework. 
 
 

In September 2012, this project will enter into phase three. During this 
phase 49 per cent of all elementary schools in Waterloo Region will 
transition to offer full-day kindergarten.  
 
Children’s Services has worked with local school boards to support 
the transition and to develop strategies that mitigate some of the 
impact on licensed early learning and child care operators. This 
initiative greatly expands the availability of before and after school 
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Strategic Objectives  Actions 
programs for four to seven year olds.  
 
In addition, Waterloo Region District School Board will be offering 
before and after school programs for 8-12 year olds called Youth 
Development Programs. This program is unique in the province and 
has been developed in consultation with Children’s Services, Ministry 
of Education and Conestoga College’s Recreation Worker Program. 

4.6.3  
Work with community 
partners to further 
streamline the process 
for identifying families 
of children at risk for 
poor child 
development 
outcomes and linking 
them to appropriate 
supports/programs. 
 

The Healthy Babies Healthy Children program will be changing in 
response to the Ministry of Child and Youth Services (MCYS) 
direction, including a change to the HBHC screening tool and process 
used to identify children (prenatal to school entry) at risk for poor 
development.  
 
Since HBHC screening is the first point of universally available 
screening for healthy child development, this change will impact the 
early years system for healthy child development screening and 
assessment overall. While the announcement of the HBHC program 
changes was made in spring 2011, the release of the revised 
program protocol and guidelines has been delayed. The date of 
release of these documents is now anticipated to be summer 2012, 
although no official date has been announced. This has resulted in a 
delay in the project timelines and the project is now anticipated to be 
completed in early 2015. 
 
Public Health is currently participating in provincial work groups and 
validation studies designed to inform MCYS decisions regarding 
changes to the HBHC program requirements across Ontario. Once 
the HBHC protocol, guidelines and resources are released, work with 
impacted community partners including local hospitals and primary 
care providers and the Children’s Planning Table, will begin to further 
streamline the process to identify families of children (prenatal to 
entry to school) at risk for poor development outcomes and link them 
to appropriate supports and programs. 

4.7  Collaborate with the community to support older adults to live healthy, active lives. 
 
4.7.1  
Work with area 
municipalities and 
community partners to 
develop a Seniors’ 
Strategy that actively 
supports the well-
being of older adults. 
 
 

The Region of Waterloo Seniors’ Strategy is in the early stages of 
development. The strategy is being developed by the Region of 
Waterloo Seniors Advisory Committee.  It is anticipated that the 
completed strategy will be presented to Regional Council for their 
consideration in spring 2014.  The Seniors Advisory Committee 
hosted a forum on November 5, 2012 to inform the development of 
the strategy. The forum brought together various seniors committees 
from across Waterloo Region, staff from the area municipalities and 
municipal councillors to assist the Seniors Advisory Committee in 
defining the characteristics of an age-friendly organization and to 
identify priority areas for the strategy.  
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Strategic Objectives  Actions 
4.7.2  
Work with community 
partners to establish a 
Seniors Advisory 
Committee that will 
provide advice on 
planning and issues 
for older adult 
programs and 
services. 

Early in 2011 the Social Services department worked in partnership 
with area municipalities to develop a Region of Waterloo Seniors 
Advisory Committee that will provide a venue/forum for stakeholder 
and community input to advance the quality of Regional services for 
seniors, and providing advice and feedback on Regional policy, 
planning and services supporting seniors.  Regional Council 
appointed the members to the committee in December 2011 which is 
co-chaired by Councillor Haalboom and the Commissioner of Social 
Services. The Seniors Advisory Committee held its inaugural meeting 
on January 27, 2012 and will continue to meet six times per year.    

4.8  Partner with the community to improve programs and services for 
immigrants/refugees. 
4.8.1  
Continue to support 
the Immigration 
Partnership in its work 
to coordinate efforts to 
attract, welcome and 
integrate immigrants 
and refugees in our 
community. 
 

The Immigration Partnership began its implementation phase in April 
2011.  Since then, the Immigration Partnership has established a 
number of action groups and ad hoc task groups to address issues 
related to settling, working, and belonging in Waterloo Region.  One 
of the successes in the partnership’s first year has been the creation 
of an integrated immigration portal in Waterloo Region.  This project 
involved various divisions such as ITS, Citizen Service, the CAO’s 
office and the Immigration Partnership and is an excellent example of 
the commitment to collaboration that exists within the Region of 
Waterloo.   
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Focus Area 5:  Service Excellence:  
Deliver excellent and responsive services that inspire public trust. 
 
The Region of Waterloo will strive for consistently high levels of citizen satisfaction in delivering 
citizen focused programs and services that are accessible, efficient, effective and responsive to 
community needs.  Staff and volunteers will instil public trust by collaborating with community 
partners and engaging citizens to foster open, transparent and accountable municipal 
government.  The Region will recruit and retain service focused people and ensure they are 
supported by the right organizational processes, facilities, equipment and resources.   
 
Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

5.1  Improve the accessibility of Regional programs and services to support our diverse 
community. 

5.1.1  
Develop and 
implement an 
action plan to 
make the 
Region’s 
programs, 
services and 
workforce more 
accessible and 
responsive to 
our diverse 
community.   

A diversity and Inclusion strategy has been developed and approved by 
Regional Council in June 2012 in order to identify actions that will make the 
Region’s programs, services and workforce more accessible and responsive 
to our diverse community.   Through this project the Region is also working 
to attract and retain a skilled, talented and diverse workforce in order to 
better understand the needs of our community.     

5.1.2  
Implement a 
consolidated 
Call Center with 
a single phone 
number for the 
Region of 
Waterloo and 
explore the 
potential for a 
311 inter-
municipal call 
centre.   

In order to improve access to regional programs and services, the Region is 
in the process of developing and implementing the Service First Call Centre 
(SFCC) which will enable citizens to reach regional programs and services 
with a single phone number.  At this stage in the project there has been 
significant progress on the development of the SFCC and it is on time and 
on budget.  
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

5.1.3  
Implement the 
standards under 
the Accessibility 
for Ontarians 
with Disabilities 
Act (AODA) to 
comply with 
Provincial 
regulations. 

Work has been completed to implement the standards under the 
Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) in order to comply 
with Provincial regulations. There are specific deadlines for implementation 
between July 1, 2011 and January 1, 2021. Since the release of these 
standards, a comprehensive and coordinated approach has been developed 
to implement the requirements.  The Region of Waterloo has met all 
requirements of the standards to date, including: 

 Providing emergency and public safety information in accessible 
formats to the public upon request. 

 Providing workplace emergency information to employees with 
disabilities. 

 Implementing vehicle identification plates on all taxicabs licensed by 
the Region of Waterloo, both inside and outside the taxicabs, along 
with three additional provisions related to taxicab licensing. 

 Over 13 provisions related to conventional and specialized 
transportation services, including providing identical fare payment 
options for specialized transit services six months ahead of the 
required timeline. 

 
Over the remainder of the project, resources and training will be developed 
and implemented to position the Region of Waterloo for continued 
compliance with the AODA.  Also, a corporate accessibility policy has been 
developed in response to the policy requirements and work is currently 
underway to develop the Region of Waterloo’s first Multi-Year Accessibility 
Plan.   

5.2  Improve satisfaction with Regional programs and services. 
 
5.2.1  
Develop 
Service 
Standards and 
performance 
targets and 
initiate 
improvement 
plans in 
selected 
departments. 
 
 

In order to improve satisfaction with Regional programs and services the 
Region is in the process of developing service standards and performance 
targets to initiate improvement plans in selected departments. Along with 
these improvement plans a comprehensive citizen/customer service training 
program for staff is also being developed to offer role-specific training and 
support necessary to provide excellent service to the community. 
 
Through application of the Service Improvement, Planning and 
Implementation (SIPI) methodology from the Institute for Citizen-Centered 
Service and research provided by the Citizens First 6 survey conducted 
from May to July of 2012, this project will work with Regional programs and 
services to develop service standards and improvement plans based on 
client needs (both internal and external) and the specific components that 
drive satisfaction with Regional services.   
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Strategic 
Objectives  

Actions  

5.2.2  
Implement a 
comprehensive 
citizen/customer 
service training 
program for 
staff.   

Research on the Public Sector Value Chain indicates that engaged, service-
focused employees are essential to the overall goal of achieving the trust 
and confidence of the public.  A comprehensive training program that offers 
role-specific training based on key service knowledge and behaviours are 
being created.   The training will examine the most effective methods to train 
different groups of employees such as online, classroom and on the job 
training. Through this project the Region will provide its employees with the 
opportunity to acquire the understanding, training and support necessary to 
provide excellent service. 
 

5.3  Ensure Regional programs and services are efficient and effective and demonstrate 
accountability to the public. 
 
5.3.1  
Develop a five 
Year Financial / 
Budget Plan. 

To promote longer term financial viability, the Region will develop a high 
level 5 year financial forecast during the 2013 budget cycle. 

5.3.2  
Further 
Integrate 
Performance 
Measurement 
into Regional 
Programs. 

The Region will improve finance target and goal setting by introducing 
measurable service standards which will be a reference point of how well 
things are being done and how work areas could improve over time. 
 
Performance measures are part of the Budget Issue paper process, allowing 
the users to link desired outcomes to funding requests. 

5.3.3  
Continue to 
undertake 
Program 
Reviews based 
on an enterprise 
risk 
management 
approach. 

The Region continues to implement program reviews in order to improve the 
efficiency and effectiveness of our programs.  Since 2011, program reviews 
have been completed in Facilities, the Region of Waterloo International 
Airport and the Rent Supplement Program.  The Cultural Sites program 
review began in the summer 2012, and the remaining program reviews will 
be selected in 2012 and 2013, with a completion date of December 31, 
2014.  Each of the program reviews will help increase a range of program 
improvements and efficiencies, including cost savings, changes to policies 
and procedures, organizational changes, and improved effectiveness and 
accountability. 
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5.4  Retain, recruit and develop skilled, motivated and citizen-centered employees. 

5.4.1  
Develop and 
implement 
actions to 
support the 
effective 
recruitment of 
employees to 
the Region. 
 
 

In order to retain, recruit and develop skilled, motivated and citizen-centered 
employees, a number of actions have occurred.  Several activities have 
been completed to support the effective recruitment of Regional employees 
during the past year.  The Region piloted recruitment through Facebook in 
the fall of 2011 for Engineering positions. The pilot substantially increased 
the total resumes received over previous recruitments for these positions. A 
process for identifying hard-to fill positions across the organization was 
implemented. As a result, Human Resources has developed and 
implemented strategies for recruiting identified hard-to-fill positions (e.g. The 
creation of a Junior Engineer Position).  
 
In addition, human resources processes to support the hiring of foreign 
trained professionals has been researched and documented. Currently, 
Human Resources is conducting research to identify diverse venues to 
advertise Regional job vacancies. 

5.4.2  
Implement 
actions 
designed to 
build leadership 
capacity. 

This strategic initiative involves implementing activities that are designed to 
build leadership capacity in the organization.  
 
Several activities have been completed. They include identifying the critical 
leadership competencies needed for success in a supervisor role, middle 
manager role and senior leader role at the Region. In addition, a training 
and development program for supervisors based on the critical leadership 
competencies that have been identified has been implemented.   
 
Human Resources has also developed and piloted a Leadership Capacity 
Building Program that has been designed to build a pool of candidates for 
future leadership vacancies in the organization. This program includes a 
workforce assessment, individual assessment, development planning, gap 
analysis and retention and recruitment strategies.  
 

5.4.3  
Conduct an 
employee 
survey and take 
follow-up 
actions. 

This strategic action includes measuring employee engagement through an 
employee survey, identifying the drivers of employee engagement, as well 
as taking actions in response to the survey results.  
 
The Region conducted its first employee survey in 2008. The 2008 survey 
initiative engaged employees across our organization in helping to make 
changes to things that are important to them at work.  
 
Resurveying employees is an effective way to monitor and quantify the 
progress and success of the changes that have been made.  A Request for 
Proposals process was concluded which resulted in a new service provider, 
Harris/Decima, being selected to conduct the survey.  
 
The Region has developed the various elements of the survey project 
including the survey focus, communication strategy and survey action 
planning process and will go be implemented throughout the period of 
November 13 - December 7, 2012. 
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5.5  Improve awareness of Regional services and facilitate processes for public input 
and involvement. 
5.5.1  
Develop a 
comprehensive 
resource guide 
for public and 
community 
stakeholder 
participation. 

Involving the public in discussions on matters that affect them is a 
fundamental element of a representative democracy.   
 
Council will see a policy on public participation in spring 2013.  Once this 
policy is approved, tools, resources and guidelines with be developed. 
Training will also be provided to Regional employees who consult with the 
public.   Completion of this project is anticipated by late 2013. 
 

5.5.2  
Implement 
webcasting of 
Regional 
Council and 
Standing 
Committee 
meetings. 

Webcasting of Committee and Council meetings commenced in December 
2011 and is ongoing.   
 
An update report will be provided to Council with statistics pertaining to 
viewership, etc. 
 

5.5.3  
Explore new 
ways to 
increase 
awareness of 
Council 
activities and 
opportunities for 
citizens to 
interact with 
members of 
Regional 
Council.   
 

Progress has been made to increase awareness of Council activities and 
opportunities for citizens to interact with members of Regional Council in a 
number of ways, including:   

 In 2011, the Region hosted two all-Council meetings with area 
Councillors.  

 In May 2012, local media were invited to participate in a Council tour 
of Regional facilities..   

 Policies were implemented in 2011 that will provide more flexibility to 
Members of Council to attend a greater number of community 
events.   

 Articles by Members of Council are being published in community 
newspapers on a regular basis.  

 Councillors’ external websites and social media pages (where 
applicable) have been linked to their Regional web pages. 

5.5.4  
Enhance 
external 
communication 
to increase 
awareness of 
Regional 
programs and 
services. 

In order to increase awareness of Regional programs and services, a 
Corporate Communications Master Plan has been developed which 
identifies key actions to improve communications with the public. One 
activity outlined in this plan was implemented in July 2012.  This action 
involved the creation of a series of commercials highlighting various 
Regional services which began airing on local TV stations in July 2012. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



November 27, 2012  Report:  CA-12-011  

DOCS #1202933-v13   Page 39 of 39 

5.6  Strengthen and enhance partnerships with area municipalities, academia, 
community stakeholders and other orders of government. 
5.6.1  
Define and 
implement an 
open data 
program that 
improves the 
ability of the 
public to find, 
download and 
use Region of 
Waterloo data. 

The three phases of implementation including: Initial Development and 
Rollout, Review and Refinement and Expansion and Ongoing Evaluation, 
have been met on time and without budget expenditure.   
 
As the implementation wraps up, a report will go to Council in 2012.  The 
report will evaluate the success of the project and include a plan to enhance 
Open Data at the Region and to further expand the Open Data catalogue. 

5.6.2  
Develop a 
corporate 
volunteer 
management 
strategy and 
work plan.   

Project governance and staff resources have been established and work 
has begun.  Following policy development, a work plan to address broader 
volunteer issues will be created. 

5.6.3  
Explore 
opportunities for 
partnerships 
with area 
municipalities in 
order to 
improve 
services.   

The Region continues to explore partnership opportunities with area 
municipalities on an ongoing basis. Specific examples in 2011 and 2012 
include the following: The Region and City of Kitchener have developed a 
call centre partnership. The partnership involves the Region co-locating the 
new Service First Call Centre with the City's existing call centre. The City of 
Kitchener is also exploring the option of using the new citizen relationship 
management (CRM) software recently acquired by the Region. 
 

5.6.4  
Host meetings 
of all area 
municipal 
Councillors at 
least annually to 
share 
information and 
discuss issues 
of common 
interest. 

The Region hosted two all-council meetings in 2011. Area councillors were 
also invited to participate in an all-council tour of Regional facilities on May 
4, 2012.   
 
Planning will soon be underway for the next all-council meeting and/or tour.  
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 REGION OF WATERLOO  
 

 FINANCE DEPARTMENT 
  Treasury Services Division 
 

 
TO: Chair T. Galloway and Members of the Administration and Finance Committee  
 
DATE:   November 27, 2012  FILE CODE:  F25-01 
 
SUBJECT: REQUEST FOR FUNDING – WATERLOO AIR SHOW 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT the Regional Municipality of Waterloo take no action on the request from Mr. David White and 
Mr. Richard Cooper for financial assistance to cover fees paid in 2011, in the amount of $75,431 
and costs for Regional Services in 2012 in the amount of $16,000 for the Waterloo Air Show. 
 
SUMMARY:  Nil 
  
REPORT: 
 
At the November 6th Administration and Finance Committee meeting, Mr. David White and Mr. 
Richard Cooper, producers of the Waterloo Air Show, made a presentation to Committee and 
requested funding from the Region of Waterloo.  The request included $75,431 to cover the fees 
paid in 2011 and $16,000 to cover costs for Regional services in 2012.  In exchange for the 
requested funding, the producers would guarantee the continuance of the event for 2013. 
 
The presentation by Mr. White and Mr. Cooper outlined the history of the Air Show and its benefits 
and community impact.  The presentation also noted the financial results for the Air Show including 
deficits of $98,000 for 2011 and $250,000 (estimated) for 2012.  Weather conditions on the show 
weekends, economic conditions and resultant reductions in sponsorship and advertising revenue 
and a withdrawal of government grants were all cited as reasons for the net losses.  The losses are 
borne by the producers of the Air Show who are, according to the presentation, “private business 
owners with a love of aviation and a desire to give back to the aviation community and public.”  Both 
producers operate businesses and note in their presentation that “a repeat of 2012 may put these 
businesses and their employees at risk.”  The producers noted that in addition to asking the Region 
for a “hand up” they have also approached senior levels of government for assistance. 
 
Requests for funding for events having an economic benefit to the Region are generally considered 
by the Region’s Economic Development and Promotion (EDP) Committee.  The requests are 
considered in conjunction with the Region’s Policy on Financial Assistance for Events providing an 
Economic Benefit to the Region.  The policy lists a number of criteria to be considered when 
reviewing requests for financial assistance for events including “sponsorship of the event by 
charitable or non-profit organizations.”  This requirement is central to the policy as Section 106 of 
the Municipal Act prohibits municipalities from providing direct or indirect assistance to businesses. 
 
While the Air Show is a valued community event which provides a marketing opportunity for the 
Region of Waterloo International Airport and an economic benefit to the community, it is produced 
by these business owners through “Waterloo Airshow Inc.” a for-profit corporation incorporated 
under the Ontario Business Corporations Act, not through a charitable or non-for-profit organization. 
Providing financial assistance in the form of reimbursement of the cost of services already provided 
would directly benefit the producers of the Air Show and would be in conflict with the Region’s 
policy 
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and possibly with the Municipal Act.  Notwithstanding these conflicts, the provision of such 
assistance to what is essentially a private, for-profit enterprise would be precedent setting and likely 
result in other such requests for assistance.    
 
It is recommended that the Region of Waterloo take no action on this request. 
 
CORPORATE STRATEGIC PLAN: 
 
This report does not directly align with the Corporate Strategic Plan. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
 
The producers of the Air Show have requested $75,431 to cover the fees paid in 2011 and $16,000 
to cover costs for Regional services in 2012.  These amounts are in addition to corporate 
sponsorship funding already provided by the Region of Waterloo for the 2011 and 2012 Air Shows.  
In 2009, Regional Council authorized the sponsorship of up to $25,000 per year for the Air Show to 
promote the Airport.  Aside from the potential conflict with the Municipal Act, if the Region was to 
provide financial assistance to the producers of the Waterloo Air Show, the budget for Economic 
Development and Promotions grants, in the amount of $154,000 has been fully spent in 2012 
including a draw of $5,600 from the 2012 operating budget contingency to fund the approved 
grants. Additionally, the accounts for 2011 were closed earlier this year. 
 
OTHER DEPARTMENT CONSULTATIONS/CONCURRENCE: 
 
Legal Services staff was consulted in the preparation of this report. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Appendix 1 – Policy on Financial Assistance for Events providing an Economic Benefit to the 
Region 
 
 
PREPARED BY:  A. Hinchberger, Director of Financial Services, Treasury & Tax Policy 
 
APPROVED BY:  C. Dyer, Chief Financial Officer 
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Appendix 1 

 
THE REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WATERLOO 

 
POLICY ON FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FOR EVENTS PROVIDING 

AN ECONOMIC BENEFIT TO THE REGION 
 
 

POLICY OBJECTIVE 
 

The Regional Municipality of Waterloo recognizes that certain events held in the Region 
of Waterloo may provide an economic benefit to the Region and the area municipalities. 
As such, Regional Council has adopted a policy, as recommended by the Economic 
Development and Promotion Committee, with respect to providing financial assistance 
for these events.  Financial assistance provided under this policy may be in the form of 
cash grants, transit services or other in-kind services. 
 
The objective of the policy is to ensure that funding assistance is provided in accordance 
with an established set of criteria and processes.  In addition, the policy recognizes that 
the economic benefits to the community may change over time and the financial 
assistance provided to events should reflect the changes. 
 
This policy is specific to financial assistance for events having an economic benefit to the 
Region.  Grants for voluntary organizations; capital grants for hospitals; grants for 
disaster relief activities; and grants for events taking place at the invitation of Regional 
Council are covered under separate policies of Regional Council. 

 
 
LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
 
Section 107(1) of the Municipal Act: 
 

Despite any provision of this or any other Act relating to the giving of grants or aid by a 
municipality, subject to section 106, a municipality may make grants, on such terms as to 
security and otherwise as the council considers appropriate, to any person, group or body 
of any kind, including a fund, within or outside the boundaries of the municipality for any 
purpose that council considers to be in the interest of the municipality. 

 
 
APPROVAL 
 
This policy was approved by Regional Council on September 24th, 2003. 
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1)   CRITERIA 
 
The following criteria will be considered when reviewing requests for financial assistance for 
events having an economic benefit: 
 
events are to be one-time events or special events being held in the Region; 
objectives and values of the event are to be consistent with those of the Region; 
events are to be non religious / non–denominational; 
events should provide a quantifiable economic benefit to the region; 
sponsorship of the event by charitable or non-profit organizations which does not in-turn      

provide grants to other organizations;  
use of the proceeds from the event;   
planned use of financial assistance requested from the Region (assistance not provided to      

cover deficits); 
the appeal of the event to a broad sector of persons; 
the accessibility of the event for spectators; 
the ability of the event to bring people into the Region; 
the ability of the event to result in repeat visits by those attending; 
the ability of the event to enhance the Region’s image; 
the ability of the event to promote the Region within and beyond its boundaries; 
media coverage for the event (including television, newspaper and radio); 
how the Region’s support would be recognized; 
the heritage, cultural or recreational significance of the event; 
overlap with other Regionally funded programs (e.g. Grants to Voluntary Organizations);                               
other sources of funding for the event; 
 
It is recognized that some of the above criteria will be difficult to quantify or measure and there 
will need to be some reliance on the organization making the request to provide such 
information. 
 
For specific requests for Transit Services or for opportunities to provide transit services in lieu of 
a cash grant, consideration will also be given to the ability of the event to create additional riders 
for Grand River Transit. 
 
2)   AMOUNT OF FINANCIAL / IN-KIND ASSISTANCE 
 
Unless otherwise approved, $5,000 is the maximum financial assistance to be provided as either 
cash or services in-kind for events having an economic benefit. 
 
In-kind assistance in the form of advertising on the Region’s buses may be available subject to 
certain limitations.  Use of exterior space for advertising is a contracted service and while the 
contractor has the exclusive right to handle the lease of exterior space for advertising, some 
advertising space may be available at discounted rates.  In addition, the Region will provide 
some of its own exterior advertising space, if available, to a maximum of one community event 
per area municipality per year.  The Region has some rights over the use of interior space for 
advertising and may provide the use of such space as an in-kind service subject to availability. 
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3)   LOCAL / COMMUNITY REQUESTS FOR TRANSIT SERVICES 
 
Grand River Transit will accommodate “smaller” local or community requests for service or 
charters within the Transit budget.  Generally such requests are from charitable, non-profit and 
community organizations linked to a fund raising campaign or community event. 
 
In reviewing these requests, consideration will be given to the following: 
 
the nature of the organization as a registered local charitable or non-profit organization; 
the nature of the event as a charitable fund raiser with all funds raised donated to the local      

organization or a subsidized or “no fee” community event; 
the marketing value of the event; 
the extent of Regional involvement and Regional presence at the event; 
other Regional funding for the group or the event; particularly funding provided through      

the Grants to Voluntary Organizations program. 
 
Grand River Transit will accommodate “smaller” local and community requests subject to the 
following limitations: 
 
for charitable fund raising events, up to 5 hours free service; services in excess of 5 hours 

provided at 50% of the full charter rate; 
for non-profit community events, services provided at 50% of the full charter rate for a      

maximum of 5 hours per event; 
existing annual subsidized services for Oktoberfest, New Years Eve and Seniors Christmas 

Lights Tour will continue to be provided as per previous arrangements. 
 
Requests for such services under Section 3 are to be provided at least 30 days in advance 
and the provision of services is subject to the availability of resources (including funds 
within the transit budget) and shall not impact on the delivery of regularly scheduled 
service. 
 
 
4)   PROCESS FOR REQUESTING FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
 
a)  Requests for financial assistance for events are to be submitted to the Chief Financial Officer     

by March 1st in the year in which the event is to be held.  Finance staff will prepare a report 
on the requests for consideration by the Economic Development and Promotion Committee 
with recommendations going forward to Regional Council.  Requests for financial assistance 
received after March 1st will be considered at the discretion of the Committee.  In either case, 
requests for financial assistance must be submitted no later than 60 days prior to the event.  
Committee will not consider requests for financial assistance that are received after the event 
has occurred. 
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b)  Requests for transit services for local or community events (per Section 3) are to be submitted 

to the Director of Transit Services.  Requests for services received by Grand River Transit 
that do not fall under Section 3 will be forwarded to the Chief Financial Officer for review by 
the Economic Development and Promotion Committee per Section 4 a) above. 

 
  
5)   PAYMENT OF FUNDS 
 
Cash grants may be provided prior to the event or at the completion of the event as 
recommended by the Economic Development and Promotion Committee and approved by 
Regional Council and payment is subject to any reporting conditions established by Regional 
Council. 
 
 
6) GRANTS IN-KIND 
 
The awarding of a grant in-kind is subject to any conditions that Regional Council may impose 
such as insurance, safety of regional employees and participants in the activity and 
indemnification of the Regional Municipality of Waterloo. 
 
In-kind services will be accounted for once the event has been completed and the final costs for 
the in-kind services are known. 
 
 
7)   USE OF FUNDS 
 
Any financial assistance provided by the Region of Waterloo must be used for the purposes 
approved by Regional Council unless subsequent approval is given by Regional Council to 
change the purpose of the assistance. 
 
 
8)   RECOGNITION OF THE REGION’S CONTRIBUTION 
 
Organizations receiving financial assistance for an event from the Region of Waterloo will 
recognize the Region’s contribution in promotional literature prepared for the event or other 
agreeable advertising.  Use of the Region’s logo in advertising and promotional literature will be 
coordinated through the Region’s Communications Department. 
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 REGION OF WATERLOO  
 

 FINANCE DEPARTMENT 
  Administration Division 
 

 
TO: Chair T. Galloway and Members of the Administration and Finance Committee 
 
DATE:   November 27, 2012  FILE CODE:  F28-30 
 
SUBJECT: STATUS OF THE WATERLOO REGION MUNICIPALITIES INSURANCE POOL  
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
For Information 
 
SUMMARY:  Nil 
 
REPORT: 
 

 
Background 

On June 1, 1998 all eight municipalities in Waterloo Region joined the Waterloo Region 
Municipalities Insurance Pool (WRMIP).  This innovative risk-financing venture continues to be 
highly effective, with the participating municipalities benefitting from: 
 
• Pro-active risk management services and strategic control of claims. 
• Stability in insurance pricing - the combined premiums paid by the municipalities in 1997/98 

(Pre-Pool) was $4,128,448.  Now 14 years later, the premium levy assessed by the WRMIP in 
2012/13 is $4,678,651 which is only a 13.3% increase over that original amount.  

• The ability to earn investment income on the pre-funded claim reserve (2011/12 - $424,222). 
• The pre-funded claim reserve that is not required to pay claims remains in the municipalities’ 

surplus.  The unappropriated surplus as of May 31, 2012 is $3,185,750. 
 
May 31, 2012 marked the end of the fourteenth (14th) year of operation for the WRMIP.  Staff is 
pleased to report that the WRMIP continues to fulfill all expectations with regard to the benefits 
projected at inception – both financially and operationally.  
 

 
Financial Strength of the WRMIP 

Attached are the WRMIP’s Audited Financial Statements for the year ending May 31, 2012.  The 
Pool currently has an unappropriated surplus of approximately $3.2 million. 
 
The two main strategic issues for maintaining a strong surplus are: 
 
1. Stability and Financial S trength of t he W RMIP – allows the P ool t o c onsider the bes t r isk 

financing options available in the future and reduces the possibility of a retro-assessment levy 
against Pool members. 
 

2. Stability of Budget – allows the municipalities to strategically manage potential future insurance 
market price fluctuations.  
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WRMIP’S 2012/13 Operating Budget 

On May 25, 2012, the Advisory Board (comprised of the eight municipal treasurers) passed the 
WRMIP’s operating budget of  $5,033,535 for the year June 1, 2012 t o May 31, 2013.  As it  is  
anticipated that the Pool will earn approximately $354,884 in investment income, the net expenditure 
will be $4,678,651.  This represents a flat budget for the year 2012/13.  It is anticipated that in the 
year 2012/13, the Pool will have a balanced budget and s hould not have to draw from surplus 
unless incurred claims exceed the pre-funded level of $2,000,000. 
 

 
WRMIP’S Levy Distribution 

Oliver Wyman, the Actuaries for the WRMIP, have allocated costs across the municipalities on an 
actuarially determined basis, utilizing considerations for current exposures (physical assets, 
vehicles, s ervices and employees), claim frequency and claim severity.  These changes ar e 
reflected in the levies assessed.  The Advisory Board annually reviews and appr oves this levy 
allocation methodology. 
 
The 2012/13 annual levy for the Region is presented below.  For comparison purposes the previous 
2011/12 levy that was assessed has also been noted as well as the percentage change. 

 
   2012/13 Levy  2011/12 Levy          
 

% Change 

Region of Waterloo     $1,870,231        $1,850,489  1.1% 
  

 
Insurance Market Conditions 

Municipal liability insurance coverage is an exposure area that not all insurance companies are 
interested in under writing.  In 2011, t he P ool’s Insurance C onsultant, Marsh Canada Li mited, 
performed an ex haustive m arketing exercise which resulted in only t hree submissions bei ng 
received from thirteen insurance companies that were contacted.  In 2012, Marsh contacted the two 
main competitive companies that were interested in the Pool’s insurance program in 2011.  The 
results from this year’s limited marketing exercise were analyzed and the incumbent, The Frank 
Cowan Company Limited, was again determined to provide the most comprehensive and c ost 
effective program.  
 
As such, in 2012/13, the Pool received a slight decrease in premium over the expiring terms with the 
enhancement of an additional $50M in Property and Boiler & Machinery Insurance coverage.  Cowan 
also provided a three year flat rate guarantee on the Property and Automobile coverage areas subject 
to specific parameters.  Staff will continue to monitor the insurance marketplace to ensure that the 
Pool obtains competitive pricing on the insurance that it purchases.  
 
CORPORATE STRATEGIC PLAN: 
 
One of the goals of the Corporate Strategic Plan is to ensure Regional programs and services are 
efficient and effective and demonstrate accountability to the public under Strategic Focus Area 5 
Service Excellence. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
 
In 2012, the insurance budget approved for Regional operations was $3,303,615.  This amount 
incorporates the $1,870,231 W RMIP levy outlined above ($50,000,000 liability coverage with a 
$250,000 claim deductible), and the three separate programs not included in WRMIP’s program 
which are: 
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• $45,078 premium for Environmental Liability insurance ($25,000,000 liability coverage with a 
$100,000 claim deductible);  

• $329,034 premium for the Waterloo Region Housing Insurance Program ($5,000,000 liability 
coverage with a $50,000 claim deductible); and 

• $80,356 pr emium for Airport Li ability I nsurance ($200,000,000 liability coverage with a 
$25,000 claim deductible). 

 
The remaining insurance budget funds of $978,916 have been transferred to the Region’s Insurance 
Claim Reserve Fund and will be used to pay claim deductibles.  The current balance in this Reserve 
Fund is approximately $5 million.  In 2011, the Region incurred 1,261 incidents/claims for which 
$1,061,820 has been pai d to-date.  In addition to this expenditure, there are approximately 50 
insurance related claims in litigation.  The Region’s financial exposure for claims is limited to the 
policy deductible.  The reserves for these claims in litigation have been established and include 
estimates for potential liability and defence costs.  Fortunately, not all of the outstanding claims will 
be litigated at the same time.  S ome take as long as f ive to six years to f inalize.  A s such, the 
financing of these outstanding claims will be s pread over time as they are in various stages of 
litigation. 
 
OTHER DEPARTMENT CONSULTATIONS/CONCURRENCE:  Nil 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 

To the Subscribers and Board of Advisors of the Waterloo Region Municipalities Insurance Pool 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Waterloo Region Municipalities Insurance Pool, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at May 31, 2012, the statements of income and 
unappropriated surplus, changes in net financial assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
 
 



 

 

Page 2 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Waterloo 
Region Municipalities Insurance Pool as at May 31, 2012, and its results of operations and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards. 

 

 

 
Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 
October 19, 2012 
Waterloo, Canada 
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at May 31 

2012 2011

ASSETS
Funds held by City of Kitchener (note 2)  $    2,655,204 $     4,104,668 
Due from member municipalities 23,206 24,095
Accounts receivable and accrued interest 105,875 92,107
Insurance recoverable (note 4) 1,059,350 1,305,797
Investments (note 3) 8,439,548 7,244,554

12,283,183 12,771,221

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 109,286 177,093
Deferred subscriber levies 76,403           152,806 
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses (note 4) 8,988,147 9,787,337

9,173,836 10,117,236
Net Financial Assets 3,109,347 2,653,985

NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Prepaid insurance premium 76,403           152,806 

SURPLUS
Unappropriated (note 6)  $    3,185,750 $     2,806,791 

See accompanying notes 
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Statement of Income and Unappropriated Surplus 
Year Ended May 31 
 

2012 2012 2011
Budget Actual Actual

(unaudited)

INCOME
    Subscriber levies  $    4,678,651  $    4,678,651 $    4,755,054 
    Reimbursement of adjuster expenses 90,000 90,278 82,260

4,768,651 4,768,929 4,837,314

EXPENSES
    Claims and adjustment expenses incurred (including

      provision for unpaid claims and adjustment
      expenses – note 4) 2,000,000 1,643,761 1,999,311

    Insurance premium 2,422,104 2,420,324 2,446,061
    Operating expenses           
      Salaries, wages and benefits 505,600 512,783 477,004
      Professional fees 199,084 184,804 152,925
      Other administrative expenses 70,429 52,520 73,862

5,197,217 4,814,192 5,149,163

Operating loss          (428,566)            (45,263)          (311,849)
Investment income           409,000           424,222          448,300 

ANNUAL SURPLUS (DEFICIT)           (19,566)          378,959          136,451 
UNAPPROPRIATED SURPLUS, beginning of year         2,806,791        2,806,791       2,670,340 

UNAPPROPRIATED SURPLUS, end of year  $    2,787,225  $    3,185,750 $    2,806,791 

See accompanying notes 
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Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
Year Ended May 31 
 

2012 2012 2011
Budget Actual Actual

(unaudited)

Annual surplus (deficit)  $        (19,566)  $       378,959 $        136,451 
Use of (acquisition of) prepaid expenses                       -             76,403          (152,806)

Change in net financial assets            (19,566)           455,362            (16,355)
Net financial assets, beginning of the year 2,653,985 2,653,985 2,670,340

Net financial assets, end of the year  $    2,634,419  $    3,109,347  $     2,653,985 

See accompanying notes 
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Statement of Cash Flows 
Year Ended May 31 
 

2012 2011

Operations
Annual surplus  $       378,959 $       136,451 
Changes in non-cash working capital components:

Accounts receivable            (12,879)            (13,199)
Prepaid expenses             76,403          (152,806)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses            (67,807)            46,434 
Deferred subscriber levies            (76,403)          152,806 
Insurance recoverable           246,447            36,243 
Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses          (799,190)          (220,765)

Cash applied to operations          (254,470)            (14,836)

Investing
Purchase of investments, net of redemptions       (1,194,994)            (30,246)
Decrease in funds held by the City of Kitchener        1,449,464            45,082 

Cash provided by investing activities           254,470            14,836 

Net change in cash during the year                     -                      - 
Cash, beginning of year                     -                      - 
Cash, end of year  $                 -   $                 - 

See accompanying notes 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
May 31, 2012 
 
 
The Waterloo Region Municipalities Insurance Pool (“Pool”) was formed June 1, 1998, by agreement of 
the eight member municipalities (“subscribers”) to purchase property damage and public liability insurance 
on a group basis and share a retained level of risk.  The subscribers pay an actuarially determined annual 
levy to fund insurance, pre-fund expected losses and contribute to a surplus.  

1. Accounting Policies
a. Basis of Presentation: 
 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 

accepted accounting policies for local governments, as recommended by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants.  Since precise 
determination of many assets and liabilities is dependent upon future events, the preparation 
of periodic financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates and approximations.  
These have been made using careful judgments. Actual results could differ from these 
estimates. 

b. Investments: 
 Bonds and short-term investments are carried at cost, net of accumulated amortization on 

premiums and discounts. Premiums and discounts are amortized on an effective-yield basis 
over the term to maturity.  Interest income is recorded as it accrues. When the value of any 
bond is identified as impaired, the carrying amounts are adjusted to estimated realizable 
amounts and any adjustments are included in investment income in the period the impairment 
is recognized. 

c. Provision for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses: 
 Provision has been made for the estimated liability for all reported and outstanding claims 

using a case-basis evaluation plus an amount for adverse development and for claims incurred 
to May 31, which have not yet been reported to the Pool.  Expected insurance recoveries on 
claims liabilities are recognized as assets on the same basis.  The computation of these 
provisions takes into account the time value of money using discount rates based on projected 
investment income from the assets supporting these provisions. 

d. Insurance Recoveries: 
 The Pool records insurance recoveries balances on the balance sheet on a gross basis to 

indicate the extent of credit related to insurance, and records its obligations to claimants on a 
net basis in the statement of income to indicate the results of its retention premiums written.  
Amounts recoverable from insurers are estimated in a manner consistent with related claims 
liabilities. 

2. Funds Held by the City of Kitchener 
 The Pool’s short-term funds are held by the City of Kitchener and are invested in combination with 

other short-term funds of the City.  The types of investments permitted are governed by the Municipal 
Act and its regulations.  All investments are short-term and include, in varying proportions, cash, bank 
or trust company deposit notes and acceptances, federal and provincial notes and savings bonds, and 
pooled investment money market funds meeting the legislated investment limitations. 
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Notes to Financial Statements 
May 31, 2012 

2. Funds Held by the City of Kitchener (continued) 
 Investment income is allocated to the Pool based on the average yield earned monthly (ranging from  

1.48% to 1.55%) on all short-term investments and the average amount owing to the Pool. 

3. Investments 
 The investments consist of: 

2012 2012 2011 2011
Cost Market Cost Market

Value Value

New Brunswick MFC, Jul 28/12 (4.90%)  $       166,196  $       169,072  $        166,196 $       172,025 
Province of Ontario, Dec 2/12 (5.375%)           512,700           510,412            512,700          528,084 
City of London, Jun 30/11 (5.00%)                     -                       -              745,425          752,837 
Region of York, Jul 5/12 (5.25%)           498,850           501,681            498,850          519,431 
Royal Bank of Canada, Nov 4/18 (5.45%)           510,400           524,419            510,400          534,251 
Bank of Nova Scotia, Jan 31/18 (5.30%)           507,400           511,592            507,400          525,093 
Bank of Nova Scotia, Jan 31/18 (5.30%)           494,262           497,267            494,262          510,391 
City of North Bay, Dec 6/13 (4.95%)           294,235           291,415            294,235          294,160 
Royal Bank of Canada, Aug 15/12 (5.20%)          283,176          278,074            283,176          287,495 
Royal Bank of Canada, Jun 6/18 (5.00%)           338,183           345,308            338,182          352,301 
New Brunswick, Mar 26/18 (4.45%)           337,620           372,978            337,620          354,818 
Ontario Savings Bond Jun 21/15 (step-up)        1,213,920        1,256,400                     -                      - 
Province of Ontario, Dec 2/19 (zero 
  coupon)           169,379           185,240            161,593          162,995 
Province of Manitoba, Jul 2/25 (5.15%)                     -                       -           1,414,614       1,414,164 
Province of Manitoba, Jul 2/25 (5.15%)                     -                       -              501,675          501,516 
Province of Ontario, Jun 2/20 (zero
  coupon)           536,833           581,023            512,716          507,728 
Province of Ontario, Jun 2/22 (zero 
  coupon)        1,355,278        1,456,402                     -                      - 
Toronto Dominion Bank, Jul 9/18 (zero 
  coupon)           764,734           783,748                     -                      - 

Bank of Montreal, Jul 8/16 (zero coupon)           509,854           507,375                     -                      - 
       8,493,020        8,772,406         7,279,044       7,417,289 

Less: Accumulated amortized premium on 
  purchase             53,472                     -                34,490                    - 

 $    8,439,548  $    8,772,406  $     7,244,554 $    7,417,289 

Investments are stated at cost less any writedown in value, which is other than temporary.  The average 
yield on fixed income investments held at year-end is 3.42% (2011 – 3.78%). 



Waterloo Region Municipalities Insurance Pool 
 

9

Notes to Financial Statements
May 31, 2012 
 
 
4. Provision for Unpaid Claims and Adjustment Expenses 
 These financial statements contain an estimation of the reserve for unpaid claims of the Pool.  This 

reserve has been determined by an actuary engaged by the Pool.  The reserve for unpaid claims 
represents the amounts needed to provide for the estimated cost of investigating and settling claims 
related to insured events (both reported and unreported) that have occurred on or before the balance 
sheet date. 

 Determining the provision for unpaid claims, adjustment expenses and the related insurers’ share 
involves an assessment of the future development of claims.  The process takes into account the 
consistency of the Pool’s claim handling procedures, the amount of information available, the 
characteristics of the line of business from which the claim arises and the delays in reporting claims.  
These provisions for unpaid claims and adjustment expenses are estimates and, as such, are subject to 
variability which could be material in the near term.  Changes to the estimates could result from future 
events such as receiving additional claim information, changes in judicial interpretation of contracts or 
significant changes in severity or frequency of claims from past trends.  In general, the longer the term 
required for the settlement of a group of claims, the more variable the estimates. 
 The table below details the provision of unpaid claims and adjustment expenses by risk categories.  
Included are both short-settlement-term lines of business where claims are substantially paid within a 
year of being reported and long-settlement-term claims liabilities where claims are expected to be paid 
over longer periods. 

2012 2011

Vehicle accident liability  $    2,025,248 $    2,418,622 
General liability        6,727,684       7,046,511 
Property damage           235,215          322,204 

 $    8,988,147 $    9,787,337 
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Notes to Financial Statements
May 31, 2012 

4. Provision for Unpaid Claims and Adjustment Expenses (continued) 
 The activity in the reserve is summarized as follows:  

2012 2011

Incurred losses
    Balance at the beginning of the year  $    5,132,855 $    5,391,855 
    Increase/(decrease) in reserve          (205,539)          (259,000)
    Balance at the end of the year        4,927,316       5,132,855 
Incurred but not reported losses
    Balance at the beginning of the year        4,654,482       4,616,247 
    Increase/(decrease) in reserve          (593,651)            38,235 
    Balance at the end of the year        4,060,831       4,654,482 
Reserve for unpaid claims        8,988,147       9,787,337 
Insurance recoverable (see note 7)       (1,059,350)       (1,305,797)
Net claims liability  $    7,928,797 $    8,481,540 

Insurance arrangements do not relieve the Pool of its primary liability to the subscribers.  No 
information has come to the Pool’s attention indicating that any of its current insurers will not be able 
to honour their liabilities under these insurance contracts.   

The provision for claims liabilities is discounted using rates based on the projected investment income 
from the assets supporting the provisions, and reflecting the estimated timing of payments.  The 
discount rate used in the valuation was 3.56% (2011 – 3.44%). 

2012 
Discounted Undiscounted 2011

Discounted Undiscounted

Gross Provision  $     7,725,518  $     8,205,534  $     8,407,582 $    8,918,694 
Provision for Adverse Deviation         1,262,629                      -           1,379,755                    - 

 $     8,988,147  $     8,205,534  $     9,787,337 $    8,918,694 
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Notes to Financial Statements
May 31, 2012 
 
 
5. Recovery of adjustment expenses 
 For certain open claims involving more than one member as defendant the Pool pays adjustment 

expenses on behalf of the members until the allocation of liability has been determined. Upon the 
allocation of liability, the Pool recovers the adjustment expenses within the individual deductibles of 
the members.  Therefore, until the allocation of liability has been determined, the allocation of 
adjustment expenses and the amounts to be recovered from the members is undeterminable.  For this 
reason no amount has been recorded in the financial statements for amounts to be recovered on these 
claims.  The recoveries will be recorded once they are reliably determined.  The total amount paid and 
awaiting allocation by the Pool in relation to these claims as at May 31, 2012 is $nil (2011 - $629,900). 

 
6. Surplus
 The surplus represents contributions made by subscribers and the excess of income over expenses less 

any dividends.  The surplus may be used to fund any increased future premiums or other costs, or may  
be paid out to subscribers.  The subscribers’ individual shares of the cumulative surplus as at May 31, 
2012 are as follows: 

Cumulative Cumulative
Surplus Share of % Share Surplus % Share of

as at 2012 of 2012 as at  Cumulative
May�31,�2011 Surplus Surplus May�31,�2012 Surplus

City of Cambridge  $       433,763  $          45,640                12.04  $       479,403              15.05 
City of Kitchener 1,086,203              92,241                24.34 1,178,444              36.99 
Township of North Dumfries 52,531                4,909                 1.30 57,440                1.80 
Region of Waterloo 678,381            149,885                39.55 828,266              26.00 
City of Waterloo 315,918              51,293                13.54 367,211              11.53 
Township of Wellesley 62,927                6,710                 1.77 69,637                2.19 
Township of Wilmot 91,356              17,093                 4.51 108,449                3.40 
Township of Woolwich 85,712              11,188                 2.95 96,900                3.04 

 $    2,806,791  $        378,959 100.00  $    3,185,750 100.00

 
7. Limits of Liability and Insurance 

The Pool funds losses for property and casualty claims between the deductible retained by each 
subscriber and a $500,000 pooled retention limit per claim.  The Pool has purchased insurance to fund 
losses in excess of $500,000 on an individual claim.  Prior to 2006, the Pool purchased aggregate stop 
loss insurance to fund total paid losses in excess of $1,500,000 in any year.    
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Notes to Financial Statements
May 31, 2012 
 
 
8. Budget Figures

The budget figures shown in the financial statements were approved by the Advisory Board of the 
Waterloo Regional Municipalities Insurance Pool at a meeting on May 27, 2011. 

 
9.  Fair Value Disclosure

The fair values of investments and claims liabilities are disclosed in notes 3 and 4, respectively.  The 
fair values of other financial instruments, including funds held by the City of Kitchener, due from 
municipalities, accounts receivable and accrued interest, and accounts payable and accrued expenses 
are considered to equal their carrying values due to the nature of these investments. 
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 REGION OF WATERLOO  

 
 CORPORATE RESOURCES 

  Council and Administrative Services 
 

 
TO: Chair Tom Galloway and Members of the Administration and Finance Committee  
 
DATE:   November 27, 2012.    FILE CODE:  L11-50 
 
SUBJECT: REGION OF WATERLOO MULTI-YEAR ACCESSIBILITY PLAN 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
THAT the Regional Municipality of Waterloo Multi-Year Accessibility Plan be adopted; 
 
AND THAT the Multi-Year Accessibility Plan attached to Report CR-CLK-12-019 be sent to the 
Ministry of Community and Social Services. 
 
SUMMARY: 
Under the requirements of the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities (AODA) and the 
Integrated Accessibility Standard (IAS), the Region of Waterloo is required to establish, implement, 
maintain, and document a Multi-Year Accessibility Plan. The Plan outlines the organization’s 
strategy to identify, prevent and remove barriers for people with disabilities in the Region’s 
programs, services, and facilities, over a five-year horizon. The following report presents an 
overview of the Region of Waterloo Multi-Year Accessibility Plan, the Region’s strategy for meeting 
the requirements under the AODA, 2005, the Strategic Road Map Towards Accessibility, and 
progress made towards accessibility in 2012. This report also contains a summary of feedback with 
respect to the proposed Plan from the Grand River Accessibility Advisory Committee.  
  
 
REPORT: 
In 2005 the AODA came into effect, giving the Province the mandate to create sets of accessibility 
standards which must be met by both the public and private sector, in the areas of: customer 
service, information and communication, employment, transportation, and the built environment.   
 
Since January 1, 2010 the Region of Waterloo has met compliance with the AODA Customer 
Service Regulation (Ont. Reg. 429/07).  As required by the regulation, on January 1, 2012 Waterloo 
Regional Police Services achieved compliance with the Customer Service Regulation. 
 
On June 3, 2011 the Province of Ontario released the Integrated Accessibility Standard (IAS), 
which combines the accessibility requirements for information and communication, employment, 
and transportation, and includes general requirements such as policy, planning, and training.  The 
requirements of the IAS are to be implemented in a staged approach, between 2011 and 2021, with 
the majority of work for the Region of Waterloo and Waterloo Regional Polices Services being 
completed by 2014 and 2015, respectively. 
 
On June 21, 2011, an information report was presented to the Planning and Works Committee 
(Report# CR-CLK-11-010/E-11-074), updating members of the committee on the actions 
undertaken by the Region to meet the provisions of the AODA IAS that were required by July 1, 
2011.  The Region’s overall approach to meeting all the requirements of the AODA IAS was 
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presented to the Administration and Finance Committee on December 6, 2011 (Report# CR-CLK-
11-019). 
 
The Multi Year Accessibility Plan contains the Region’s strategy for meeting the requirements under 
the AODA IAS standards, the Strategic Roadmap Towards Accessibility, planned accessibility 
improvements (a five-year plan outlining ways the Region will meet its goals), and successes in 
accessibility from 2012.  
 
1.0 Planning Process 
The following operating principle was developed to guide the Region’s accessibility planning 
strategies:  “The Regional Municipality of Waterloo will continuously strive toward achieving an 
environment that is free of barriers for individuals with disabilities consistent with our requirements 
under the Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2001 and the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities 
Act, 2005”. 
 
Additionally, the following planning principles direct how accessibility planning is implemented at the 
Region: 

• All Departments of the Region will participate in the development and implementation of the 
accessibility plan under the IAS. 

• Accessibility plans will consider the different impact on both the public and Regional 
employees. 

• Accessibility plans will make the most efficient use of available resources: human, capital, 
and financial. 

• Accessibility plans will coordinate with and serve to enhance other Region initiatives as they 
exist. 

• Accessibility plans will strive to meet the requirements outlined in the IAS in the specified 
timeframe. 

• Barrier identification, prevention, and removal activities will follow consistent best practices 
across Departments of the Region through the use of provincial standards and specifically 
developed tools. 

• Actions to improve accessibility will take into consideration the principles of Universal 
Design, which allow for the design of products and environments that will be useable by all 
people, to the greatest extent possible, without the need for adaptation or specialized 
design. 

• The Region will work in cooperation with the area municipalities and other participating 
agencies in consideration of common interests. 

• While developing and implementing the Accessibility Plan under the IAS, the Region will 
take into consideration advice received from its Accessibility Advisory Committee (GRAAC), 
the public and Regional employees.  Regional Council will consider the Plan for approval. 

 
Regional staff are brought together from all levels of the organization to provide input into the 
development and implementation of the Accessibility Plan items.  The corporate AODA/ODA 
Steering Team consists of the AODA/ODA staff team and senior managers from all departments of 
the Region. This group meets regularly to set the direction for accessibility planning and to ensure 
full participation of all departments. The AODA/ODA staff team also meets regularly with the 
Corporate Leadership Team to provide updates on the planning and implementation processes. 
 
Input and feedback for the Multi-Year Accessibility Plan is obtained from a number of sources, both 
internally and externally.  In addition to Regional Council and the Waterloo Regional Police Services 
Board, the Region is also required to obtain input from the advisory committee.  Accordingly, staff 
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reviewed a draft of the Multi-Year Accessibility Plan with the Grand River Accessibility Committee 
(GRAAC) on October 25, 2012. In compliance with legislative requirements, Staff also sought public 
feedback on the Region’s Multi-Year Accessibility Plan at the Dialogue on Diversity on October 18, 
2012, a public event attended by members of the community, with a theme focused on accessibility. 
This input, along with the direction set by the AODA/ODA Steering Team and the legislative 
requirements under the AODA form the basis for the proposed Multi-Year Accessibility Plan. 
 
The Strategic Road Map towards Accessibility was developed through both public and Region of 
Waterloo staff input. The extensive public consultation data gathered for the Region of Waterloo 
2011-2014 Strategic Plan helped set the priorities and goals for the Strategic Road Map to 
Accessibility.  The Region of Waterloo AODA/ODA Steering Team was engaged to frame the 
Strategic Road Map.  Lastly, staff members from each department evaluated the Strategic Road 
Map outcomes, vision, and deliverables. 
 
2.0 Plan Overview 
The Region of Waterloo Multi-Year Accessibility Plan details the Region’s strategy for meeting the 
requirements of Ontario’s accessibility legislation, the Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities 
Act, 2005 (AODA) and the Integrated Accessibility Standard (IAS).  
 
2.1 The Strategic Road Map Towards Accessibility  
The Strategic Road Map to Accessibility will frame the Region’s approach to achieving its two main 
priorities related to accessibility: 

• Meet the accessibility standards under the AODA, within the timeframe set out in the 
standards, through the efficient use of resources. 

• Build awareness with Region of Waterloo employees to support identifying, removing, and 
preventing barriers for people with disabilities. 
 

The Strategic Road Map starts with a strong foundation in four key organizational elements: 
organizational commitment, accountable governance, coordinated approach, and meaningful 
participation. The foundation includes existing elements in the organization that will facilitate the 
Region meeting its deliverables under the IAS. 
 
The Region’s organizational commitment has been demonstrated by the Region of Waterloo’s 
leadership and Regional Council commitment to diversity, inclusion, and accessibility. The Region’s 
leadership and Regional Council have supported the Region Values, the Strategic Plan, the 
Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, and the Accessibility Policy. 

The Region strives for accountable governance by ensuring that all accessibility planning is based 
on the Planning Principles presented in Section 1.0 of this report.  

The Region’s coordinated approach to accessibility is managed by the Citizen Services section, 
within the Corporate Resources department, which is responsible for coordinating the multi-year 
accessibility plan, creating the corporate accessibility policy, implementing project management 
processes with working groups, and coordinating feedback and advice from the Grand River 
Accessibility Advisory Committee.  
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Finally, the Region seeks meaningful participation from key stakeholders who are engaged in the 
accessibility planning process, in the implementation of the AODA Standards, and in identifying, 
preventing, and removing barriers for people with disabilities. 

Over the past year, GRAAC has provided advice on: 
• Implementation on the Transportation Standard; 
• Region of Waterloo Emergency Plan; 
• Pedestrian accessibility and roundabouts; 
• Proportion of accessible taxis in the Region; 
• Grand River Transit Master Plan; 
• Region of Waterloo Accessibility Policy; 
• Features of accessible bus stops and bus shelters; and  
• Tools and resources for accessible information formats and communication supports. 

The Region of Waterloo also consults with the Cambridge Accessibility Advisory Committee for 
feedback on the accessibility plan. 
 
2.2 Accessibility Improvement Plans 
To create an accessible and inclusive Region of Waterloo, over the next five years the Region of 
Waterloo will implement the AODA standards in Customer Service, Information and 
Communication, Employment, Transportation, and the Built Environment, framed by the following 
five pillars: 

• Policies, Standards, and Guidelines; 
• People; 
• Public Awareness; 
• Technology; and 
• Infrastructure. 

 
The five pillars will help the Region of Waterloo frame its approach to implementing the 
requirements under the AODA. The Region will consider the impact of all AODA standards on each 
of the five pillars, planning for and implementing deliverables with a focus on each pillar.  Every plan 
and deliverable will contribute to key outcomes, all of which works toward the common vision of an 
accessible and inclusive Region of Waterloo. The key outcomes include: 

• Region customers will receive services appropriate to their needs. 
• Employees with disabilities are supported throughout the employment cycle. 
• People with disabilities are engaged for feedback and advice on ROW programs, services, 

and facilities. 
• New buildings and renovations take into account the needs of people with disabilities. 
• Staff can identify, prevent, and remove barriers for people with disabilities.  

 
2.3 AODA Integrated Accessibility Standard Regulation 
Over the next five years the Region will implement the AODA standards in Customer Service, 
Information and Communication, Employment, Transportation, and the Built Environment. In 
addition, the Region will implement the General Requirements under the IAS.  
 
The Region’s deliverables and successes can be found in the Multi-Year Accessibility Plan: 
 

• Customer Service (pg. 17-19) 
• Procurement (pg. 20-21) 
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• Information and Communication (pg. 22-24) 
• Employment (pg. 25-27) 
• Transportation (pg. 28-29) 
• Built Environment (pg. 30-31)  

 
In addition to the Region of Waterloo’s commitment to continue those everyday actions to identify, 
prevent, and removing barriers to people with disabilities, throughout 2012 the Region of Waterloo 
and Waterloo Regional Police Services have been working on ensuring the successful and 
sustainable implementation of the AODA Integrated Accessibility Standard Regulation (IAS).  The 
Waterloo Regional Police Services is planning for compliance with additional requirements with 
deadlines in 2015, 2016, and 2021. 
 
3.0 Accessibility Advisory Committee Feedback 
On October 25, 2012 the Grand River Accessibility Advisory Committee (GRAAC) reviewed a draft 
of the Multi-Year Accessibility Plan, and was asked for feedback and advice on the items outlined in 
the Plan. The advice from the GRAAC has been reviewed and considered by the AODA/ODA 
Steering Team in the development of the Multi-Year Accessibility Plan. 
 
The summary of feedback from GRAAC and the public consultations conducted on October 18, 
2012 is as follows: 
 

• Staff training is a vital component of the plan and should be emphasized.  

• GRAAC and the community may have resources that could be useful for staff, so it is 
important to create processes for them to contribute to existing resources and information.  

• It is important to consider how to facilitate public consultations with people with disabilities 
and other members of the community outside the Accessibility Advisory Committee. 

 
4.0 Plan Distribution 
The Region of Waterloo Multi-Year Accessibility Plan will be released to the public through an 
article in the Region News, inviting interested citizens to request copies of the plan, mail-outs to 
local agencies, and postings on the Region of Waterloo’s website. 
 
The Region of Waterloo makes the Accessibility Plan available in a number of alternate formats 
such as: electronic copy (CD), text-only, in summary; and in additional formats upon request. 
 
 
CORPORATE STRATEGIC PLAN: 
The preparation of the Multi-Year Accessibility Plan is a requirement under the Accessibility for 
Ontarians with Disabilities Act, 2005. Planning and implementation of the Accessibility for Ontarians 
with Disabilities Act, 2005 Integrated Accessibility Standard regulation is an identified action under 
the Corporate Strategic Plan Focus Area 5: Deliver excellent and responsive services that inspire 
public trust, Action 5.1.3: Implement the standards under the Accessibility for Ontarians with 
Disabilities Act (AODA) to comply with Provincial regulations. 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: 
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The cost of creating and distributing the Region of Waterloo multi year Accessibility Plan is 
accommodated within the Corporate Resources departmental budget, Citizen Service section.  As 
previously described in Report# CR-CLK-11-018, throughout 2012 the implementation of the 
Integrated Accessibility Standard regulation will focus on planning and policy development, 
developing a training program, and hosting the necessary public consultation sessions.  The costs 
for these activities will be accommodated within the existing ODA Capital budget.  All other costs for 
implementing the actions outlined in the Multi-Year Accessibility Plan will be considered as needed 
by individual departments. 
 
 
OTHER DEPARTMENT CONSULTATIONS/CONCURRENCE: 
The Multi-Year Accessibility Plan has been prepared in consultation with all departments at the 
Region of Waterloo along with Waterloo Region Police Services. 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Appendix A: Region of Waterloo Strategic Roadmap Toward Accessibility 
 
Region of Waterloo Multi-Year Accessibility Plan  
 
PREPARED BY:  Gina Hickman, Service Planning Associate, Citizen Service 
  Charlotte Gravlev, Interim Manager, Citizen Service 
 
APPROVED BY:  Gary Sosnoski, Commissioner, Corporate Resources   
 

 
 
 

   



Report: CR-CLK-12-019 

 
DOCS #1306683                                                                                                         Page 7 of 7 
 
 

Appendix A:  
Strategic Road Map Towards Accessibility 

 



    

     

REGIONAL MUNICIPALITY OF WATERLOO 
AUDIT COMMITTEE 

MINUTES 
 

Tuesday, November 6, 2012 
2:50 p.m. 
Room 217 

150 Frederick Street, Kitchener, Ontario 
 

 
 
Present were: Chair T. Galloway, K. Seiling, S. Strickland* and C. Zehr 
 
Members absent: J. Wideman 
 
Also Present: J. Brewer*, D. Craig* and R. Deutschmann* 
 
 
MOTION TO GO INTO CLOSED SESSION 
 
MOVED by C. Zehr 
SECONDED by S. Strickland 
 
THAT a closed meeting of Audit Committee be held on Tuesday, November 6, 2012 at 2:50 
p.m. in Room 217, in accordance with Section 239 of the Municipal Act, 2001, for the purposes 
of considering the following subject matters: 
 
a) labour relations 
b) the security of the property of the municipality and personal matters about an identifiable 

individual, including municipal employees 
 

CARRIED 
 
*S. Strickland, J. Brewer, D. Craig, R. Deutschmann left the meeting during the closed session 
at 3:30 p.m. 
 
 
MOTION TO RECONVENE INTO OPEN SESSION 
 
MOVED by C. Zehr 
SECONDED by K. Seiling 
 
THAT the Audit Committee reconvene into open session. 
 
 CARRIED 
 
 
DECLARATIONS OF PECUNIARY INTEREST UNDER THE MUNICIPAL CONFLICT OF 
INTEREST ACT 
 
None declared. 
 
 



Audit Committee - 2 - 12/11/06 
 

1307703    

STAFF REPORTS – FINANCE 
 
a) F-12-096, 2012 Year-End Audit  
 
Received for information. 
 
PRESENTATION 
 
Evan McDade and Jennifer Gruber, Deloitte & Touche, LLP appeared before Committee with 
respect to the Region of Waterloo 2012 Audit Service Plan which was circulated with the 
agenda.  They highlighted the executive summary and changes to the audit scope.  Committee 
members had no questions regarding the proposed plan. 
 
 
NEXT MEETING – May 8, 2013 at 5:00 p.m. 
 
 
ADJOURN 
 
MOVED by C. Zehr 
SECONDED by K. Seiling 
 
THAT the meeting adjourn at 3:45 p.m. 
 
 CARRIED 
 
 
COMMITTEE CHAIR, T. Galloway 
 
COMMITTEE CLERK, L. Wetzel 
 
 



Meeting date Requestor Request Assigned Department Anticipated Response Date

26-Jan-10 Committee

Report on a policy related to development charge
grants, exemptions and deferral requests, to include
past history/practice, implications, and options. Finance

2013, as part of Development 
Charges By-law review

08-Jun-10 A&F
Review current funding for the tax increment grant
program, with full range of funding options. Finance 2012

28-Feb-12 A&F Process for calculating/appeal of development charges Finance / Legal Services
2013, as part of Development 

Charges By-law review

20-Mar-12 A&F
Report maintaining the optional class for new multi-
residential development, including revenue forecasts Finance Fall 2012/Winter 2013

25-Sep-12 P&W
Consultant's report on economic development in 
Waterloo Region CAO Dec-2012

25-Sep-12 A&F Legal Hold Policy

Council & Admin Services - 
Information Management & 

Archives Feb-2013

06-Nov-12 A&F

Defer report CR-FM-12-013/PH-12-035, Downtown 
Kitchener EMS Station Project to a future Committee 
meeting

Corporate Resources/Public 
Health Fall 2012

06-Nov-12 A&F

Defer report P-12-119, Public Art for Grand River Transit 
Operations Centre Strasburg Road until after the 2013 
budget process has been completed. PH&CS Spring 2013

COUNCIL ENQUIRIES AND REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

ADMINISTRATION AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
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